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Financial Highlights
MERE

2019 2018 Change

20195 20184 S E)
HK$°000 HK$°000
T8 Tt

Revenue I %5 475,522 313,876 +51.5%

Gross profit Sl 228,192 156,966 +45.4%

Profit attributable to owner of the EEY/NEEIE: YN e | 105,579 93,899 +12.4%

parent

Adjusted profit attributable to owner £ 2% 7] #E A A JE {5 48 125,245 93,899 +33.4%

of the parent(® i Ao
Proposed dividend per share® ERERRL® HK 1.3 cents
1.3l

Profitability ratio BRI DR

Adjusted earnings per share® i 5 9 B B R HK 6.3 cents HK 4.7 cents +34.0%
6.378 1l 4.7 Al

Free cash flow per share® BREBBEBRES HK 6.2 cents HK 4.6 cents +34.8%
6.278 1l 4.63 Al

Liquidity ratio REBESER

Current ratio® i) LS 2.0 1.8

Capital adequacy ratio = N Bl A 2

Debt to equity ratio© TS HE i L R0 N/A N/A

REA T

(1)  Adjusted profit attributable to owner of the parent is a non-HKFRS financial (1) &2 7 A A HE GG 48 38 4 % A B Ik 7 ok i %5
measurement which, in the opinion of our Directors, eliminates the effect of non- WEENMHERE > EFERLE P HEIE
recurring Listing-related expenses of HK$19.7 million that affect the reported profit B LT AEBEM 19 THE BB TR ]
attributable to owner of the parent. BB RE N B A N AL 2 A o

(2)  Proposed dividend per share was calculated by dividing proposed final dividend by — (2) £ B B8 42 2 5 A1 B 8 B DA R 7S 4F )t
the number of Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue as at the date of H WA 70 w) & 8847 3% 48 A% 3 H 1,992,000,000 B
this annual report. FHE o

(3)  Adjusted earnings per share was calculated by dividing adjusted profit attributable — (3) 45 & %8 78 4% & A #2 B 2N 7 HE A O RE 4 &8 1%
to owner of the parent by our Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue Y I B DA AR 2 &) By A 20194F 5 H 21 H R B 28
upon successful listing of our Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 21 May TR b AR Y B AT I % E 1,992,000,000
2019, as if the 1,992,000,000 shares were outstanding throughout the years ended 31 B 51 AA > A 4 1,992,000,000 % B 173 i # %2 2018
March 2018 and 2019 for the comparison purpose. AE 201943 A 31 H Ik 4F B /Y B | 1 [H © 3547

(R ) -

(4)  Free cash flow per share was calculated by dividing net cash flows from operating 4) HRABHBE SR EREE G HEHE SR E
activities minus purchases of items of property, plant and equipment and intangible TR IR W B 28 R Bt e I H DL K SR
assets by the number of Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue upon TE & 1 FT AT 3K B DA ZR 2\ R0 TR 2019 4F
successful listing of our Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 21 May 2019, SH21F A8 BT B2 b AR 0 B 8 AT W
as if the 1,992,000,000 shares were outstanding throughout the years ended 31 March #H 1,992,000,000 8 515 > 2 411,992,000,000 /5
2018 and 2019 for the comparison purpose. 0 7 K 220184 S 201943 A 31 H 1k 4F B i

AW Y ] 2B AT (A (8 H ) o

(5)  Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total current — (5) Ui B Lb 2 J7 4% 3 8 % & A (H BR DA & A B H
liabilities as at the respective dates. 1 I B AR RS o

(6) Our Group did not have any interest-bearing nor external borrowings. Thus the debt (6) PN < I 1 T WS D == P 1 A

to equity ratio was not applicable.

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report
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Revenue
Wz
HK$°000
Tt
475,522
313,876
263,823
171,091 I
2016 2017 2018 2019
20164F 20174 20184F 20194F

Financial Highlights
IR RE

Gross Profit
EF
HKS$’000
T
228,192
156,966
125,832
79,693 I
2016 2017 2018 2019
20164F 20174F 20184 20194

Profit Attributable to Owner of the Parent

BAREE AELGEFR
HK$°000
FsE
125,245%
93,899
53,592
35,354 I
2016 2017 2018 2019
20164F 20174 20184F 20194F

* Eliminated the effect of non-recurring Listing related expenses of HK$19.7 million

THBRIR L B THTARBR B 319,771 BT TR R

Proposed Final Dividend to
Profit Attributable to Owner of the Parent
for the year ended 31 March 2019
BZE2019F3A31HILLFE
FAREE AEMLEF
WEBREREGL

Proposal
final dividend
HHOR IR
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRRE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the 2019 annual report
of our Group. This represents the first annual report of our Group since
its listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in May 2019, a
milestone reached as a result of the support of our colleagues, business
partners and investors.

We are a Hong Kong founded and headquartered company that engages
in the distribution of media titles, including animation, drama, TV series
and movies, as well as the licensing of popular brands and/or cartoon
characters for the production of merchandise and event promotions. We
are a first-of-its-kind company to list in Hong Kong, which, as part of our
business, encourages creativity, cultural exchange and brings positivity
and happiness to the community — something that everyone needs any
time anywhere.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Owing to strong demand for quality media content in the region, our
Group generated revenue totaling HK$475.5 million, or a year-on-year
increase of 51.5%, for the year ended 31 March 2019. Gross profit margin
remained stable at around 48.0%. Profit attributable to shareholders
increased by 12.4% year-on-year to HK$105.6 million. Excluding a one-
time listing expenses of approximately HK$19.7 million, profit from core
operations would have risen by 33.4%, which reflects the strong business
flow and potential of our Group’s operation. The adjusted earnings per
share were HK 6.3 cents.

DIVIDENDS

Even though the satisfactory results for the 2018/19 financial year were
achieved prior to our Listing, the management team nonetheless wishes
to thank Shareholders for their support and confidence in our Group.
Consequently, the Board has proposed a final dividend payment of HK
1.3 cents per share, which represents a distribution of approximately
24.5% of our Group’s profit. Our long-term dividend policy is to share
the fruits of our hard work with all Shareholders, while at the same time
efficiently utilise our Group’s resources to expand business and improve
profitability, leading to value creation and sustainable growth.

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Our encouraging performance during the year can be attributed to the
rising demand for good-quality entertainment in Greater China, Asia and
the United States. Healthy growth was seen in both our Media Content
Distribution Business and Brand Licensing Business, thanks to the
outstanding effort of our team in selecting well-received media content
and developing various innovative branding and marketing strategies.

Revenue from Media Content Distribution Business grew satisfactorily
due to an increase in the number of active titles distributed. According
to the latest market research, our Group ranked first among Japanese
animation distributors in the PRC based on revenue in 2017, accounting
for approximately 14.1% of the market. Capitalising on our strong
industry connections and distribution network, we have also in recent
years commenced investing in media content production which is
starting to bear fruit, with revenue contributions from this new segment,
i.e. theatrical release income, gradually increasing. Although such
contributions are still small at this time, we look forward to stronger
results from this business segment in the coming years, as we believe
that direct ownership of IP will enable our Group to generate even more
sustainable revenue.

In respect of revenue from Brand Licensing Business, it too increased
due to the securing of more active licensing brands/characters, as well as
more diverse branding efforts and events organised during the year. The
latter involved themed hotels and cafes, roadshows in shopping mall,
brand anniversaries and other exciting events. The variety of merchandise
produced that carry our brands/characters has also continued to increase;
ranging from pre-school necessities to anniversary-edition merchandise
that are adored by grownups who are young at heart. We strongly believe
that the combination of our established network and long-term ties with
key business partners will be crucial in driving growth in this segment,
as well as the fact that the possibilities for collaboration are endless.

PROSPECTS

The Listing in May was a major milestone of our Group. This
achievement nonetheless deserves immediate recognition as it is the
culmination of our team’s dedication and tremendous effort, which
includes highlighting our Group’s exceptional business model — a model
that is underpinned by an established platform which facilitates the
crossover of media content distribution, media content development,
brand licensing and merchandise commercialisation opportunities.
Through our people, our network, our ties with business partners, we
have established a business model that enables us to derive unlimited
opportunities, hence is our core asset and fundamental to our Group’s
growth.

Chairman’s Statement
FERS
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Chairman’s Statement
FERSE

Going forward, we will continue to leverage this model to realise growth,
both in terms of the breadth and depth of our operations. In respect of
the former, we will seek to extend our reach in the PRC, our largest
market, as well as the United States and Hong Kong, while at the same
time explore new markets in Asia. Besides geographical expansion, we
will also continue to expand our distribution channels such as inflight
entertainment. As for strengthening the depth of operations, we will
initiate more creative business strategies and crossover opportunities,
as well as bring together business partners to develop innovative
and lucrative business opportunities. Furthermore, greater effort and
resources will be directed towards Media Content Production Business.
In particular, we plan to direct our attention towards locally developed
media content with the objective of serving as a facilitator for the Hong
Kong market; we will seek to discover unique and creative media
content with high potential, and enable such media content to receive the
international exposure that they deserve.

As we enter the 5G era where technological advancement will
expedite both exposure and access to top entertainment content, we
are prepared to capture the vast opportunities presented. While seizing
such opportunities, we will nevertheless adhere to our core values
of encouraging development of the creative industry in Hong Kong;
supporting locally developed media contents and characters; and
bringing positivity and happiness to every community we serve.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my heartfelt gratitude
to my fellow directors and the Group’s business partners, investors
and stakeholders, and colleagues for their unwavering support. I trust
that such support, combined with our sound business model and strong
fundamentals, will lead to greater value creation, sustainable growth and
satisfactory returns.

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Chairman

27 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Review
On 21 May 2019, our Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Our Group is a leading distributor of third-party owned media content
headquartered in Hong Kong with presence in the PRC, Singapore,
Malaysia, Taiwan, Indonesia and Japan. Under the Media Content
Distribution Business, our Group cooperates closely with the media
content licensors through entering into content distribution arrangements
with them and are capable of distributing media content relating to
animation series, variety shows, drama series and animated and live-
action feature films to the customers through entering into content
sub-licensing arrangements with them. In particular, our Group has a
well-established position in distributing Japanese animation. For the
year ended 31 March 2019, revenue derived from Japanese animation
distribution accounted for 81.3% of total revenue. Many Japanese
animated titles were released during the year ended 31 March 2019, such
as Double Decker! Doug & Kirill, HaneBad!, Hi Score Girl, My Hero
Academia Season 3 and Overlord 3. The media content we distributed
was able to reach viewers in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, the
Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia, India, Brunei and
other countries.

Our Group also engages in the Brand Licensing Business, where it is
involved in the licensing of various rights in relation to brands owned
by brand licensors. The Brand Licensing Business had further expanded
after MAIL Acquisition. Our Group is involved in licensing of (i)
certain merchandising rights, for the use in toys, apparels and footwear,
health and beauty products, food and beverage; (ii) location-based
entertainment rights for events, theme parks, shopping malls, cafes and
restaurants; and (iii) promotion rights in the Asia Pacific region. For
the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group, through MAIL and its other
subsidiaries, was involved in the licensing of brands of “Le Petit Prince”,
“Moomin”, “Mr. Men Little Miss”, “PAC-MAN”, “Peppa Pig”, “PJ
Masks” and “ROBOCAR POLI".
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Management Discussion and Analysis
AR R

Our Group is also involved in Co-investment in the
production of Japanese animation series

For the year ended 31 March 2019, our Group recorded a net profit of
HK$105.6 million as compared to net profit of HK$93.8 million for the
corresponding period in 2018. Such growth was primarily resulted from
the revenue generated from the increase of releases of animation series in
Mainland China for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Our existing content and brands with effective licence:

The table below sets out the number of active titles of media content
available for the Media Content Distribution Business:

Number of active titles of media content available

AT A S R TR R

The table below sets out the number of brands available for the Brand
Licensing Business:

Number of brands available AR RS H
For the year ended 31 March 2019, our Group has obtained the
distribution right of Double Decker! Doug & Kirill, HaneBad!, Hi
Score Girl, Iroduku: The World in Colors, My Hero Academia Season
3, Overlord 3 and UzaMaid!. These Japanese animated titles are well
accepted by our major clients in Asia.

- 12 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ani-One

Our Group started its cooperation with TVB Group in July 2016. Under
our proprietary “Ani-One” brand and channel on the OTT platform of
“myTV SUPER”, an online media platform operated by TVB Group,
we licensed to TVB Group VOD rights to use the licensed animation
content in Hong Kong. Since April 2018, our Group has extended its
proprietary “Ani-One” brand by cooperating with SMG Entertainment
Sdn Bhd (a subsidiary of the Star Media Group Berhad (MYX: 6084))
which operates a VOD service currently known as “dimsum” to provide
the licensed animation content in Malaysia and Brunei. For the year
ended 31 March 2019, our Group believes the centralised management
approach and unified business model have enabled it to replicate the
success of the “Ani-One” brand in Malaysia and Brunei cost-effectively
and efficiently. Leveraging the broad collection of media content, our
Group believes that the proprietary “Ani-One” brand has good potential
in helping us expand the market shares in the Asia Pacific region. In
view of such potential, our Group intends to adopt a uniform “Ani-One”
brand and similar business strategies and collaborate with other media
platforms such as online entertainment platforms and TV channels in the
Asia Pacific region to further expand our VOD services.

Business Outlook and Future Plans

Our Group has strong relationship with its media content licensors which
ensure stability of the supply chain. Our Group’s media content licensors
included some renowned media companies such as Aniplex Inc., Avex
Pictures Inc., Kadokawa Corporation, Kodansha Ltd., Shochiku Co. Ltd.,
Sunrise Inc. and TOHO Co., Ltd.. The stable supply of content titles
ensures our Group to maintain a broad portfolio of content and enables
us to continue to be a “one-stop” distribution platform for our customers.

EEET WD

Ani-One

A B R 20164F7 A B IR BRTVBAE B & 1F >
ITVBAR M $52 ) 450 48 2 16 > DAAS 4R ] 3
A Ani-Onel /& W > 7E[myTV SUPER] (H
TVB& I & & 1 4 L 88 F &) WOTTF &
BB AW RN ENE - 5T
§i J A 4 [ 54T Ani-One | 8 B9 2675 »
AL H20184F4 A it HLISMG Entertainment
Sdn Bhd (Star Media Group Berhad (MY X:
6084) i S J&§ 2~ 7l) & AF - sz A mlEE L S
[ dimsum J #9457 58 26 36 IR 35 > i J5 2k 78 i I
DO 4R (LRSI HE MY B T N 2 - R 220194
SH3IH ISR - AEEAME - £ EH
J5 ¥ B — 1 SE 5 R 20 FAM e 4 DL R AR
AR 4 S 38R 77 T Ani-One ) & J8 Y
BT 16 B 5 RS AR TG R R B o IRAE Rz 1Y)
WEHS N2 A 4R 1AM 2 T Ani-One ] i 42
HA R T) - A By 3R A 7 88 K I 5 78 1
Ly BINAHE ) > AEEARRA
%5 — 19| Ani-One J /i H B S0 2E 75 o W% » B
HeAth 3 B8 S & (] U EE K R 47 b IR s T
BN EGHEE) GF > D — P IR R
2R RS -

EERER KRR E

A LR B OB RE R A AR M DT /L R B
BR AR o mI AR LR SR O RE E o A
BRAFZETOHE TN L EEA
A > £l #fAniplex Inc. * Avex Pictures Inc. *
Kadokawa Corporation * Kodansha Ltd. ~ #2
7 #k & 4L~ Sunrise Inc. J¢ H #H bk X &
oo R R HE (I R AR R AT AR FR A 4 B A
FFUEMNERANAEAS  BRMESF
Fl—uli X815 -

20194%% pHpsEsraE 13 -



Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WED AN

The Mainland China market contributes 76.2% of our Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2019. According to Frost and Sullivan
Report, the total revenue of the distribution market of Japanese
animation content in the Mainland China is expected to grow from
HK$1.6 billion in 2017 to HK$3.3 billion in 2022 at a compound annual
growth rate of 15.3%. Although the Mainland China market remained
strong for the year ended 31 March 2019, any imposition of additional or
more stringent laws or regulations on the distribution of media content
by the PRC government or governments of other regions may result in
an adverse effect on our results of operations. In order to cope with this
scenario, our Group will adopt the following strategies for sustainable
growth in the future:

1. Riding on the proven track record and good reputation, our Group
plans to strengthen the position as an established media content
distributor, and enrich and expand the media content that we
offer to the customers. Our Group will leverage our in-depth
understanding of the industry, viewer preferences and market
trends to select media content that we expect to be popular among
our customers and viewers. In anticipation of the continuous
increase in demand for media content, our Group plans to increase
our Japanese animation offerings by obtaining more titles and also
further diversify the media content offerings by obtaining media
content from media content licensors based in the Mainland China,
Korea and other Asian countries to include more Chinese and
Asian live-action drama series and feature films.

2. Our Group also plans to expand into the distribution of inflight
entertainment media content. In recent years, the airline business
is continuously developing as the number of aircraft deliveries and
the passenger traffic grow. Our Group intends to further expand
into the inflight entertainment market by fully utilising its existing
rights in relation to the licensed media content and also acquiring
the inflight distribution rights of other media content titles.

3. Our Group will continue to enhance our position in existing
markets where we currently have a presence by expanding our
customer base and market share in such regions, which may
include the Mainland China, the Philippines, Thailand, Singapore
and Malaysia. In addition, our Group plans to leverage our deep-
plough strategy, reputation, extensive experience and business
connections to strategically expand into selected new regions, such
as Vietnam and Cambodia. Leveraging our Group’s established
business relationships with Japanese media companies and TV and
media networks, we also intend to bring media content from other
countries to Japan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our Group expects that our Brand Licensing Business will continue
to expand. Our Group currently intends to obtain licensing rights
for international lifestyle, fashion and character brands as well as
other Hong Kong original brands for further development of the
Brand Licensing Business.

As a group that is deeply rooted in Hong Kong, the Group would
like to serve as an ambassador of Hong Kong’s own media content
and brands, including local production of drama series, animation
series, featured films, short web movies/dramas and brands. Our
Group intends to utilise our expertise in the businesses to help
promote media content and brands created in Hong Kong to
international markets. In order to nurture and promote the new
generation of media/design talents, our Group intends to cooperate
with local media producers, designers and artists to provide the
support they need to distribute their media content and license their
brands in the Asia Pacific region and other countries by helping
them to identify and select the appropriate distribution channels,
including showcasing their media content/brands at licensing
exhibitions/trade fairs.

Leveraging our connections with Japanese media companies, film/
drama production companies and media networks, our Group will
continue to invest in the production of media content in the future.
Based on our Group’s prior experience, we believe the benefits for
co-investing in the production of media content are that:

. our Group may be granted rights to distribute the media
content and other rights in certain territories;

. we may further enhance our relationships with the production
studios/media companies which will benefit our Media
Content Distribution Business in a long run; and

. our Group will receive investment income arising from the
media content in addition to distribution income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WED AN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2019, our Group’s total revenue reached
approximately HK$475.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$161.6 million or approximately 51.5% as compared
to the year ended 31 March 2018, mainly due to increase in the revenue
generated from Media Content Distribution Business.

Revenue derived from Media Content Distribution Business was our
Group’s major source of revenue, contributing approximately 89.3%
(2018: 92.8%) of our Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2019. Revenue derived from Media Content Distribution Business
increased by 45.9% from approximately HK$291.1 million in last year
to approximately HK$424.6 million during the current year. This was
primarily attributable to the increase in the number of active titles
distributed and increase in average price per title as more popular titles
were distributed during the year ended 31 March 2019 than that in the
same period of 2018.

Revenue derived from Brand Licensing Business increased by 123.7%
from approximately HK$22.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$51.0 million during the current year. The increase
in revenue from Brand Licensing Business was mainly due to the revenue
contribution of approximately HK$25.9 million from MAIL as a result of
MAIL Acquisition.

Cost of Sales

Our Group’s cost of sales was primarily royalty payments to the media
content licensors and brand licensors at the mutually agreed royalty rates.
Our Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately HK$90.4 million
or 57.6% from approximately HK$156.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$247.3 million for the year ended 31
March 2019. The increase was in line with the increase in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$228.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$71.2 million or approximately 45.4% as compared
to approximately HK$157.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2018,
mainly due to the increase in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019
as compared to the same period in last year. Meanwhile, our Group’s
gross profit margin decreased by approximately 2.0 percentage points
from approximately 50.0% in last year to approximately 48.0% for the
year ended 31 March 2019 which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in the revenue generated from the sub-licensing of a character in a
Japanese animation which had relatively higher gross profit margin as
compared with the other Japanese animation and brands sub-licensed by
the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income and Gains

Our Group’s other income and gains, net decreased by approximately
HK$12.0 million or 68.6% from approximately HK$17.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$5.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly due to (i) the decrease
in management fee income from MAIL (which became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Group upon completion of the MAIL Acquisition in
August 2018 and thereafter, the transactions with MAIL were eliminated
on consolidation); and (ii) the change from a net foreign exchange gain
in the year ended 31 March 2018 to a net foreign exchange loss in the
year ended 31 March 2019 primarily due to the adverse effect of the
depreciation of JPY and RMB on the Group’s bank balances , some of
which were denominated in JPY and RMB during the current year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to approximately HK$48.0 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$4.0 million or approximately 9.1%
when comparing to approximately HK$44.0 million in last year. The
increase was primarily due to increase in withholding tax expenses which
was in line with the increase in revenue generated from customers in the
Mainland China. Such increase was partially offset by the decrease in
promotion expenses by approximately HK$2.0 million in relation to the
movie distribution during the current year.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our Group’s general and administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to approximately HK$62.6 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$37.7 million or approximately 151.4%
when comparing to approximately HK$24.9 million in last year. Such
increase was primarily due to the increase in (i) legal and professional
fee of approximately HK$19.7 million primarily attributable to expenses
incurred for Listing; and (ii) staff costs of approximately HK$16.4
million as a result of the increase in headcounts and performance bonus.

Other Expenses

Our Group’s other expenses, net for the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to approximately HK$4.9 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$5.0 million when comparing to net other gain of
approximately HK$0.1 million in last year. The increase was primarily
due to impairment of licensed assets of approximately HK$3.9 million
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019 as compared to net
reversal of impairment of licensed assets of approximately HK$1.1
million recorded for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WED AN

Income Tax Expenses

Our Group’s income tax expense increased by approximately HK$0.7
million or 5.8% from approximately HK$12.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$12.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 primarily due to the increase in assessable profit. The
effective tax rate was 10.7% and 11.3% for the year ended 31 March
2019 and the year ended 31 March 2018, respectively.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our Group’s profit for the current
year increased by approximately HK$11.8 million or 12.6% from
approximately HK$93.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$105.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Net
profit margin decreased from 29.9% for the year ended 31 March 2018
to 22.2% for the year ended 31 March 2019 due to the increase in general
and administrative expenses as explained above.

Profit Attributable to Owner of the Company

Profit attributable to owner of our Company amounted to HK$105.6
million (2018: HK$93.9 million), representing an increase of 12.5% from
last year.

Profitability Ratio

Adjusted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holder of
the parent amounted to HK 6.3 cents (2018: HK 4.7 cents), representing
an increase of 34.0% from last year. The adjusted earnings per share
was calculated by dividing adjusted profit attributable to owner of the
parent by our Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue upon
successful listing of our Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 21
May 2019, as if the 1,992,000,000 shares were outstanding throughout
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 for the comparison purpose.

Free cash flow per share increased by HK 1.6 cents or 34.8% from HK
4.6 cents for the year ended 31 March 2018 to HK 6.2 cents for the
year ended 31 March 2019. Such increase was a result of the strong
performance of our Group’s core businesses which generate more cash
flows from our Group’s operating activities and provide more financial
resources for our Group to support its capital expenditure. The Free cash
flow per share was calculated by dividing net cash flows from operating
activities minus purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets by the number of Company’s ordinary shares of
1,992,000,000 in issue upon successful listing of our Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange on 21 May 2019, as if the 1,992,000,000 shares
were outstanding throughout the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019
for the comparison purpose.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2019, our Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$163.8 million (2018: HK$169.1 million), most of which were
denominated in US dollars and HK dollars.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2019, our Group did not have any interest-
bearing nor external borrowings. Thus, neither the gearing ratio nor the
debt to equity ratio was applicable to our Group.

Following the Listing, our Group’s operations were mainly financed by
internal resources including but not limited to existing cash and cash
equivalents, anticipated cash flow from its operating activities and the
net proceeds generated from the Listing. With strong liquidity position,
our Group is able to expand in accordance with its business strategy.

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2019.

There was no material impact to our Group arising from the fluctuation
in the exchange rates of the currencies in US dollars and Renminbi for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of our Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on
21 May 2019. There has been no change in the capital structure of
our Group since then and share capital of our Group only comprises
ordinary shares. As at the date of this annual report, our Company has
1,992,000,000 ordinary shares in issue.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARY

Pursuant to the Reorganisation for the Listing, our Controlling
Shareholder acquired the remaining 50% shareholding interest in MAIL
for a consideration of HK$20.0 million on 27 August 2018. The MAIL
Acquisition was made as part of our Group’s strategy to expand our
Brand Licensing Business. Save for the MAIL Acquisition, there was
no other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiary during the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
AR R

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, none of the assets of our Group were pledged.

ADJUSTED PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNER OF THE PARENT

The following table sets out the reconciliation from our Group’s profit
for the year attributable to owner of the parent to adjusted profit for the
year attributable to owner of the parent:

BKHEE
201943 H31 H » 7 4 [ HE 48 41 #7 4T {o]
BE o

BARERABEERERA
e ATE XN SE S Eaw

i A B RE 24w A N RE AL AF T A R B i
M 2 B

For the year ended

31 March
BZE3A31BLEE
2019 2018
20194 20184F
(HK$’°000) (HK$’000)
(F#x) (F#T)
Profit attributable to owner of the parent 2\ & B A A ME 1L i F) 105,579 93,899
Plus: in
Listing-related expenses T A B B S 19,666 —
Adjusted profit attributable to owner of 2% & #E A A JE 5 48 58 5 345 A
the parent 125,245 93,899

Our Group’s adjusted profit attributable to owner of the parent for
the year ended 31 March 2019 would amount to HK$125.2 million,
representing an increase of HK$31.3 million or 33.4%, as compared to
HK$93.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019, our Group had no capital commitment that were
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management of our Company are committed to the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices and procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for our Group to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Our Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code as its own code of corporate governance. As the Company was
listed on 21 May 2019, our Company was not required to comply with
the requirements under the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, our Company has
complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and
except for code provision A.2.1 as set out below:

Chairman and Chief Executive

Ms. Lovinia Chiu currently holds both positions as chairman and chief
executive officer. Throughout the business history, Ms. Lovinia Chiu
has been the key leadership figure of our Group and has been primarily
involved in the formulation of business strategies and determination
of the business plans, the Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) consider Ms. Lovinia Chiu the best candidate for
both positions and that the present arrangements are beneficial for and in
the interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition
As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP
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ERERRE

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. The biographical details of each Director and the relationships
between the Directors are disclosed on pages 35 to 44 of this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a confirmation of his/her independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company also considers that they
meet the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors of our Company are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings. Under the articles of
association of our Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three of a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Our Company’s
articles of association also provides that all Directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of our
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors our Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at our Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to our Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of our Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of our Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by meetings with senior
management of our Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses.

Prior to the Listing, the external legal advisor of our Company provided
1 training session to all Directors covering directors’ duties under the
Listing Rules and the laws in Hong Kong, the Company’s continuing
compliance obligations under the Listing Rules, the requirements on
disclosure of inside information, compliance issue of companies listed in
Hong Kong, and other statutory and regulatory updates.
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TEERRE
Board Meetings EEgEeR

The Articles of Association state the responsibilities and operational  4H 4k = 2 4 HI [ % 3 = 6 35T K 8 /B 72
procedures of the Board. Pursuant to code provisions of the CG Code, the & - R > 2 F g~ Bl 2 s Al ¢ » #
Board will meet at least four times a year at regular intervals to consider 5 € 45 4F £ D 5247 DU W 2 W) 6 5k > 8 B
operational reports and financial results of our Company and policies. 7~ 2\ 7] &% M8 R o K WA &% EAE M BU3E - &
Significant operational policies have to be discussed and passed by the & #% # B 5 28 &8 ¥ 5 & 3f o 06 %l i o
Board.

Our Company was listed on 21 May 2019. During the period from the 745/ @ jA20194E5 4210 i - B L Wi A
Listing Date and up to the date of this report, 2 regular Board meetings W3 B &AM & A YW > & G 2K E
were held for the purposes of, among others, considering and approving =& & B €k > UL % 8 S (P A ds)

the annual results of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2019. ALEEE E2019F3A31H IEFE 2 FF
KM o
The attendance record of the meeting is set out below: e ALY T
Attendance/
No. of
Board Meeting
HERE
Exg
SRR
Executive Directors HITES
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) i /INHE (i AT A ) 2/2
Chiu Siu Fung Noletta i /N B 2/2
Cheung Wai Kit SR AR A 272
Ma Ching Fung BIE& 2/2
Non-executive Director FHTES
Wong Hang Yee, JP wEG CRF4 L) 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYEHITES
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 2 [ 8 B 2/2
Fung Ying Wai Wilson U5 g fE 2/2
Wong Kam Pui, JP BB CORF-#01) 2/2

Since the Listing, our Company has not held any general meetings. The [ [ i £ > 7 2\ &) 5if7 48 S ¥ AT fo] 3R K
Company will hold its first annual general meeting on 19 September & o A /% &% i 20194E9 A 19 H 4L ¥ 1 )iz
2019. JBCHROE AE R e
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Corporate Governance functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed our Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, our Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of
the Model Code and the guidelines, and our Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of our Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of our Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee are posted on the website of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of our Company
at www.medialinkgroupltd.com.hk.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming
Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP and is
chaired by Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal
audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors, and
arrangements to enable employees of our Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

As the Audit Committee was established on 12 April 2019 and the
Company was listed on 21 May 2019, the Audit Committee did not have
any meeting during the year ended 31 March 2019. The Audit Committee
held two meetings on 31 May and 27 June 2019 for audit planning and
internal control and risk management matters.
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The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:

Bk R A BRI

Attendance/

No. of

meeting(s)

Members of Audit Committee HERE
EREEERE SRR
Fung Ying Wai Wilson (Chairman of the Audit Committee) SRR (FEREE L) 22
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 7 o RH 2/2
Wong Hang Yee, JP B CORFA ) 22
Wong Kam Pui, JP g CORF 1) 2/2

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming
Miranda and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP and is chaired by Ms. Chiu Siu Yin
Lovinia.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
the nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in our Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

As the Nomination Committee was established on 12 April 2019 and the

Company was listed on 21 May 2019, the Nomination Committee did not
have any meeting during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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The attendance record of the meeting is set out below: gk AL BRI
Attendance/
No. of
meeting(s)
Members of Nomination Committee HERE
REZEEERE SRR
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) i NKE (F2 5 2 A & ) N/AAS 78 H
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 7 o BH N/AA 7
Wong Kam Pui, JP g R4 1) N/AA % ]

Nomination procedures and the process and criteria

In the nomination process of appointing a new director, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board may select candidates for directorship
from various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion,
re-designation, referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria (as set out below) to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. If the process yields
one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should rank them by order of preference based on the needs
of our Company and reference check of each candidate if applicable.
The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable. For any
person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a Director at
the general meeting of our Company, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria (as set out
below) to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders of our Company in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered: (i) character and integrity; (ii)
qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy
that are relevant to our Company’s business and corporate strategy;
(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board; (iv) requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules; (v) any potential contributions the candidate
can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence, gender and cultural diversity; (vi) willingness and ability to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/
or Board committee(s) of our Company; and (vii) such other perspectives
that are appropriate to our Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or
the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of directors
and succession planning.
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Board Diversity Policy

Our Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Our Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining our
Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement our Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional
and industry experience.

Our Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to our Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP and is chaired by Mr. Wong Kam
Pui, JP.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration.
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As the Remuneration Committee was established on 12 April 2019 i id % Ml & B & 220194 H 12 H o7 »
and the Company was listed on 21 May 2019, the Remuneration  [fij 4% 2% & 201945 H 21 H F 7 > Wl W
Committee did not have any meeting during the year ended 31 March  Z& B & # £ 201943 31 H 1F4F E W kA
2019. The Remuneration Committee held a meeting on 27 June 2019 B T fi] & & - 201946 H27 H : FHM & &
on remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior @ ,ﬁ'jlj 8 751 847 # $ v A B R Y

management. 7 18 1 B & ok

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below: gkl AL BRI
Attendance/
No. of
meeting(s)
Members of Remuneration Committee HERE,
FMZEESERE BERY
Wong Kam Pui, JP (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) fﬁ SR K40t (L E A &3 ) 1/1
Fung Ying Wai Wilson SRR 1/1
Wong Hang Yee, JP ﬁﬁ‘fﬁ‘ (KP4 1) 111

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of i #2 4 2 4 34 <7 Al 7 46 SC6B.1.51% »
the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31  #% £20194F3 H31 H I 4E S 4 & g A

March 2019 is set out below: B0 357 I A N
Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) person(s)
FrENEE (B T) A
0 to 1,000,000 0%1,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 %.1,500,000 1
3,000,001 to 3,500,000 3,000,001 23,500,000 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five AR $ I 77 37 HI) ffl 8% 1678 7 % #8 19 2 & 57
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix Pl & 1o % & = Hi g B (RS - U A
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the audited financial 45 &% 2 4% Bf %5 i £ ff 518 )29 ©

statements of this report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

Our Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules.

As our Company was listed on 21 May 2019, our Company was not
required to comply with the requirements under the Model Code for the
year ended 31 March 2019. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

Our Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective risk management and internal controls are maintained, while
the senior management is charged with the responsibility to design and
implement an internal controls system to manage risks. A sound system
of risk management and internal controls is designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

As the date of this report, our Company does not have an internal audit
function. Nevertheless our Company engaged an external professional
firm to carry out internal audit functions and the Board was responsible
for internal control of our Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

After the Listing, our Group appointed Corporate Governance
Professionals Limited (“CGPL”) to:

— assist in identifying and assessing the risks of our Group through
the use of an enterprise risk assessment questionnaire and
interviews; and

— independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of our Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.
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The results of the independent review and assessment were reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on 27 June 2019. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by CGPL to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems of our Group and mitigate risks of our Group were
adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations
of CGPL as well as the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the internal control and risk management systems
were effective and adequate. The Board will conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of our
Group at least once in a financial year.

INSIDE INFORMATION

Our Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to our Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company, Ernst &
Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$1,352,000 and HK$4,765,000
respectively, details of which are set out below:

Description of services performed

Friz R & ¥ 15
Audit services % Bk B
Non-audit services IE 2 B

— Services provided in connection with initial

public offering of the Company AH BH 1 AR 5
— Others — HAth
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ma Ching Fung is the company secretary of our Company.
His profile is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section of this report. Mr. Ma would comply with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Our Company has adopted the amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association on 12 April 2019 which took effect from the
Listing Date. No changes have been made to the Articles of Association
since the Listing. A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of our Company is posted on the website of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of our Company
at www.medialinkgroupltd.com.hk.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting

Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to Article 64
of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or more shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition and
send to the Board or the company secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by our
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Associations, no person, other
than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for
election, be eligible for election to the office of director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at our Company. The
period of the lodgement of the notices will commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which
such notices to our Company may be given will be at least 7 days.
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If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”) for
election as a director of our Company at the general meeting, he/she shall
deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) with our Company’s secretary.
The Notice (i) must include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed
by the shareholder concerned and signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected and consent to the publication of his/her
personal information.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting. In order
to allow our Company’s shareholders to have sufficient time to consider
the proposal of election of the Candidate as a director of our Company,
shareholders who wish to make the proposal are urged to submit and
lodge the Notice as early as practicable before the relevant general
meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of our Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. Our Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address: Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1,

South Seas Centre,

75 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
(852) 2508 9767

investor_enquiries @medialink.com.hk

Fax:
Email:

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address, apart from the registered
office of our Company, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. Our Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

Policies relating to Shareholders

Our Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of our Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon our Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 60 to 66 of this report.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (i /) # 22 &), aged 54, is the founder of
our business, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive officer
of our Company, an executive Director and chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is primarily responsible for formulating
the overall development strategies and business plans of our Group and
overseeing the overall development and operations of our Group. She was
appointed as a Director on 29 October 2018. In addition, Ms. Lovinia Chiu
currently holds the position of director in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink
(Asia) Limited, Medialink Holdings Limited, Medialink Entertainment
Holdings Limited, Medialink Investment Holdings Limited, Medialink
Licensing Holdings Limited, Medialink Pacific Limited, Whateversmiles
Limited, Whateversmilestk z{ € 4. which are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of our Company. She has over 30 years of experience in the content
distribution industry.

Prior to founding our Group in 2000, Ms. Lovinia Chiu started her career
in August 1988 in media program distribution as a marketing assistant
at a private Hong Kong company engaged in content distribution. She
later took on the role of marketing executive and subsequently director
of the marketing and acquisitions department from November 1988 to
January 1990 and January 1990 to June 1993 respectively. Ms. Lovinia
Chiu later joined Media Assets Limited, a company under Star TV Group
which primarily focuses on broadcasting services, as a sales manager from
June 1993 to January 1994. Subsequently and up till the founding of our
Group, Ms. Lovinia Chiu started to conduct media content distribution
and its related licensing business in 1994 through a predecessor of our
Group. Ms. Lovinia Chiu was also featured as one of the dynamic women
entrepreneurs under the 2015 EY Entrepreneurial Winning Women Asia
Pacific program organised by Ernst & Young. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is one of
the judges and investors for the Pan-Asia Venture Development Platform,
an independent and self-funded platform which engages EMBA and MBA
students as well as graduates for the purpose of developing quality high-
growth ventures in Asia.

Ms. Lovinia Chiu received her diploma in business administration from
Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong Shue
Yan University) in July 1987. In August 2012, Ms. Lovinia Chiu also
completed the CUHK EMBA-UC Berkeley Business Negotiations
Program. She received her master’s degree in business administration
(Executive MBA programme) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013.
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Length of service

Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Lovinia Chiu has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Ms.
Lovinia Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Lovinia Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta (executive
Director) and Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (member of the senior
management), and the sole shareholder of RLA (controlling shareholders
(as defined in the Listing Rules)). Save as disclosed, Ms. Lovinia Chiu
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta (i /) Bl Zz 1), aged 50, is an executive
Director. She joined our Group on 27 September 2000 as the executive
vice president for sales and acquisition strategies and was appointed as
our Director on 29 October 2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu was promoted as
the managing director - brand acquisition and licensing of our Group in
May 2019. In addition, Ms. Noletta Chiu holds the position of director
in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink (Shanghai) Co., Limited, Medialink
Brand Management Pte Limited, Medialink Licensing Holdings Limited,
Whateversmiles Limited and Whateversmilestk = & #1., which are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of our Company. She is responsible for
supervising and providing strategic advice on the Brand Licensing
Business of our Group.

Ms. Noletta Chiu began her career as a production assistant. She
subsequently focused on film distribution and video shooting and secured
distribution rights to films. Subsequently and prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Noletta Chiu worked for the predecessor of our Group, namely
Medialink International Limited which was engaged in media content
distribution.

Ms. Noletta Chiu graduated with a bachelor of arts degree (major in
cinema and photography) from Southern Illinois University in March
1992 for which she was entered onto the Dean’s list. Ms. Noletta Chiu
is also the Oxfam Hong Kong’s Advisor of Resources Development on
Fundraising and Communications.

Length of service

Ms. Noletta Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Ms.
Noletta Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Relationships

Ms. Noletta Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman of
the Board, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) and Ms. Chiu
Siu Ling Barbara (member of the senior management). Save as disclosed,
Ms. Noletta Chiu does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.

Mr. Cheung Wai Kit
Position and Experience
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit (R 12 £ 5t &), aged 55, is an executive Director
and the chief operating officer of our Company. Mr. Cheung joined our
Group on 17 March 2017 and is primarily responsible for overseeing and

managing the operations of our Group. He was appointed as a Director on
29 October 2018.

Mr. Cheung has been involved in the media programming and program
licensing industry for over 18 years in numerous positions across multiple
corporations. Mr. Cheung was a manager (Jade purchasing & scheduling)
in the Jade Network Programme Department at TVB Group (stock code:
00511), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from
January 1988 to December 1996. From October 2005 to August 2007, Mr.
Cheung worked as a director — programming & marketing at TVB Pay
Vision Limited, a private company (formerly known as Galaxy Satellite
Broadcasting Limited) where he was responsible for formulation of
marketing strategy, acquisition of international channels, and managing
co-owned channels operated with major provincial TV channels in the
PRC. Mr. Cheung then worked in Asia Television Limited, a private
company, as a vice president — head of programme from September
2007 to March 2009. From January 2010 to March 2017, Mr. Cheung
was the managing director at Emphasis Video Entertainment Limited,
a private company owned by Global Eagle Entertainment, (NASDAQ:
ENT), the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. He
was responsible for formulation of buying and distribution strategies,
acquisition of Asian movies and television programmes and distribution
of the same to the worldwide inflight market.

Mr. Cheung graduated with a bachelor’s degree in social sciences from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1987.
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Length of service

Mr. Cheung was appointed as executive Director on 29 October 2018. Mr.
Cheung has entered into a service contract with our Company for a term
of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Mr. Cheung is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of our
Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Cheung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.

Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Position and Experience

Mr. Ma Ching Fung (55 IE $2 5 4), aged 43, is an executive Director,
the chief financial officer and company secretary of our Company. Mr.
Ma joined our Group on 30 September 2017 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the financial management of our Group. He was appointed
as our Director on 29 October 2018.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years of working experience in auditing, accounting
and finance in numerous positions across multiple corporations. He
began his career in auditing at Price Waterhouse (presently known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers), an accountancy firm, in September 1998 and
served as an audit manager before he left the firm in May 2004. He served
as the finance manager of Pantene Industrial Co., Limited, a private
company and the finance manager of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited,
currently known as China Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code:
0715), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May
2004 to March 2005 and from March 2005 to April 2006 respectively.
Mr. Ma was the group financial controller at IPE Group Limited (stock
code: 0929), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from
May 2006 to September 2007 and he then served as a corporate controller
and head of controlling at a private company involved in the production
of primary and processed aluminium products from November 2007 to
October 2012 and November 2012 to September 2017 respectively before
joining our Group.
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Mr. Ma graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1998. He subsequently
obtained a master’s degree in business administration (Executive MBA
programme) at The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013
for which he was entered onto the Dean’s list. He has been a fellow of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since March 2008,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September
2014 and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since September 2014.
He has been an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators since December 2016 and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries since December 2016.

Length of service

Mr. Ma was appointed as executive Director on 29 October 2018. Mr. Ma
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 29 April 2019. Mr. Ma is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company
pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Ma does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Position and Experience

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP (F %14 Z 1), aged 47, joined our Group on 1
July 2016 and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29 October

2018. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice to our
Board.

Ms. Wong has been a consultant for MEL since 1 July 2016. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms. Wong worked at Maxim’s Caterers Limited, a
food and beverage catering company in Hong Kong, from February 2007
to August 2015 where her last position was head of legal. She then served
as a consultant for Maxim’s Caterers Limited from September 2015 to
August 2016. Ms. Wong has been a consultant at Liau, Ho & Chan, a
Hong Kong law firm, since September 2017.

Ms. Wong has been a member of each of the Competition Commission
since May 2018, HKSAR Town Planning Board since April 2016,
HKSAR Steering Committee on Review of the Regulation of Private
Healthcare Facilities since October 2012, HKSAR Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Board since September 2017, Social Enterprise Advisory
Committee since January 2016, Audit Committee of West Kowloon
District Authority since January 2017 and Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health since October 2017. She has also been a council and
court member of Hong Kong Baptist University since February 2017. She
was the vice chairman of the HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board
from February 2013 to February 2019 and has been the chairman of the
HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board since February 2019.

Ms. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law from the City
Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as the City University of
Hong Kong) in December 1994. She obtained a master’s degree in law
from the University of London in November 1995 and was awarded the
postgraduate certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong in
September 1996. She has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since
September 1998 and a solicitor in England and Wales since December
1998.
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Length of service

Ms. Wong was appointed as non-executive Director on 29 October 2018.
Ms. Wong has entered into a service contract with our Company for a
term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Ms. Wong is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of our
Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson

Position and Experience

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson (Jff 2 {8 % %), aged 65, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April 2019
and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. He is also appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Fung was the financial controller for Jardine Pacific
Limited from June 1993 to March 2010. He then served at Jardine
Matheson Limited, a private company principally engaged in providing
management services to its parent company, namely Jardine Matheson
Holdings Limited (LSE: JAR, BSX: IMHBD.BH, SGX:J36), the shares of
which are listed on the London Stock Exchange, Bermuda Stock Exchange
and Singapore Exchange respectively, as group financial controller from
April 2010 to September 2014.

Mr. Fung has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since July 1987 and served as the president of the same from
December 2009 to December 2010. He has also been a fellow member
of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
since July 2017 and the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
(currently known as the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)
since May 1985. He is the founding president of the Hong Kong Business
Accountants Association which was established in June 2014. Mr. Fung
passed his Advanced Level General Certificate of Education Examinations
in Hong Kong in or around 1973.
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Mr. Fung has taken up responsibilities with numerous Hong Kong
governmental bodies. He has been a member of the Financial Reporting
Council since December 2014, Hong Kong Productivity Council since
January 2016 and Hong Kong Town Planning Board since April 2016.
In addition he has been a board member of the West Kowloon Cultural
District Authority since October 2016 and a council member of the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology since April 2017.

Mr. Fung has also taken up responsibilities with various non-governmental
bodies. He has been chairman of the Hong Kong Dance Company Limited
since November 2015 and an independent non-executive director of Hong
Kong International Theme Parks Limited, a private company which owns
the Hong Kong Disneyland Resort, since September 2018.

Length of service

Mr. Fung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 22
April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr. Fung
for a term of three years commencing from 22 April 2019. Mr. Fung is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Fung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Position and Experience

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda (3 FR & BF 2 *), aged 66, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22
April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Leung started her career with MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066), a public transport service
company, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, as a public
relations manager from August 1985 to January 1994. She then served as
a corporate relations manager from February 1994 to December 2003 and
as a general manager for corporate relations from January 2004 to January
2013. In January 2009, Ms. Leung was also appointed as a member of the
executive committee for MTR Corporation Limited and remained in such
position until her retirement in January 2013.
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Ms. Leung graduated with a Certificate for Private Secretaries from Hong
Kong Technical College (currently known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in July 1972. She has been a fellow of The Chartered Institute
of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong since June 1997, a member of
The Chartered Institute of Transport (currently known as The Chartered
Institute of Logistics and Transport) in the United Kingdom since October
1985 as well as a member of The Institute of Public Relations in the
United Kingdom since January 1988.

Ms. Leung was a member of the Council for Sustainable Development
from March 2009 to March 2015, the Women’s Commission from
January 2012 to January 2018 and has been a member of the Executive
Committee of the Hong Kong Society for the Protection of Children since
December 2011, a member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong
Equestrian Federation since May 2013, a member of the Hong Kong
Housing Society since July 2014, the Community Involvement Committee
on Greening since March 2015 as well as the Advisory Committee on
Built Heritage Conservation since May 2016. She was also appointed by
The Hong Kong Equestrian Federation and The Equestrian Events (Hong
Kong) of the Games of the XXIX Olympiad Company Limited as the
National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of the Beijing 2008
Olympic Games from 8 August 2008 to 24 August 2008 as well as the
National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of the Beijing 2008
Paralympic Games from 1 September 2008 to 12 September 2008.

Length of service

Ms. Leung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on
22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to Ms.
Leung for a term of three years commencing from 22 April 2019. Ms.
Leung is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Leung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.
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Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP

Position and Experience

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP (& $81 5 4), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April 2019 and is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to our Board. He is also appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Wong has extensive experience in human resources management
and administration with local and international organisations of renown.
He has been a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of Human
Resources Management since June 2000 and later served as its president
from July 2008 to June 2010.

He has also been the founder and director of RESOLUTIONS HR &
Business Consultancy Company Limited, a private company principally
engaged in the provision of business and human resources solutions as
well as consultancy services, since March 2015. He served as the non-
executive director of Bamboos Health Care Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2293), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from
September 2014 to June 2018. In addition, Mr. Wong had/has taken up
responsibilities with a number of Hong Kong governmental bodies and
had served/has been serving as an advisor for various matters concerning
the local community, including human resources, education, labour,
welfare, commerce and economic development matters, just to name a
few.

Mr. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1996. He
subsequently obtained a master’s degree in business administration
(Executive MBA programme) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013.

Length of service

Mr. Wong was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 22
April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr. Wong
for a term of three years commencing from 22 April 2019. Mr. Wong is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (# /) ¥ 22 ), aged 56, joined our Group
on 27 September 2000 where she served as an administrative executive
until March 2017. She has been the director of human resources and
administration as well as head of treasury for our Group since April 2017.
Ms. Chiu was promoted as senior Director — HR & Admin in May 2019.
Ms. Barbara Chiu also holds the position of director in Medialink Brand
Management Pte Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company. She currently oversees our daily human resources operations
and is also responsible for reviewing internal controls and liaising with
financial service providers.

Ms. Barbara Chiu has over 20 years of experience in corporate
administrative matters. She began her career as an administrative clerk in
1982. Subsequently, Ms. Barbara Chiu started working for BMI (Hong
Kong) Limited as an administrative assistant in 1993.

Ms. Barbara Chiu graduated from Delia Memorial School in July 1982.
She is the sister of Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu.

Ms. Cheng Pui Fan (¥ {fl %% &z 1), aged 35, joined our Group on 12
August 2013 and is currently the finance manager of our Group. Her
responsibilities include reporting to our chief financial officer, overseeing
financial operations as well as ensuring the integrity of data and financial
reporting for our Group.

Ms. Cheng has over 10 years of working experience in accounting and
finance. She began her career at CK Yau & Partners CPA Limited, a
private firm of certified public accountants. Ms. Cheng worked as an
audit assistant and subsequently as an audit supervisor from July 2006 to
August 2011. From October 2011 to June 2013, Ms. Cheng worked as
an accountant and subsequently as a senior accountant at Toon Express
Group, a private company which primarily focuses on the licensing
business for various brands. She was responsible for financial reporting,
budgeting and performing financial analysis.

Ms. Cheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2006. She has been a
certified public accountant since February 2010 and is also a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Ms. Lee Yat Ping (Z3® & &£ T), aged 45, joined our Group on 13
October 2000 and is currently a senior vice president (content acquisition
and distribution) of our Group. Ms. Lee has over 20 years of experience
in the media industry. Her current responsibilities include reporting to our
chief executive officer, supervising programme distribution by the content
department, formulation of sales strategies as well as identification of new
business opportunities for our Group.

Ms. Lee began her career as a marketing assistant at Rich China Industries
Holdings Limited, a private company principally engaged in the trading of
health and beauty supplements, from August 1997 to December 1997.

Since joining our Group in October 2000, Ms. Lee has served numerous
positions in MEL, including as senior manager from January 2004 to
December 2009, director — program distribution from April 2015 to March
2017 and vice president (distribution and sales) from April 2017 to April
2019. Ms. Lee was promoted as senior vice president — content acquisition
and distribution of our Group in May 2019.

Ms. Lee graduated with a bachelor of arts degree in language information
science from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1997.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are media content distribution, investment in
media content production, and brand licensing in Hong Kong, Taiwan,
Mainland China and other Southeast Asian countries.

The activities of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 is
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Four-
Year Financial Summary” on pages 8 to 10, pages 11 to 20, pages 21 to
34 and pages 155 to 156 respectively. These discussions form part of this
report.

RESULTS

The results of our Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 67.

DIVIDEND

An interim dividend in respect of the current year of HK$72,500,000
(2018: HK$50,800,000) was declared to the controlling shareholder prior
to the Listing.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK 1.3
cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil), amounting
to approximately HK$25,896,000 (2018: Nil), to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of our Company on Monday,
30 September 2019. The proposed final dividend will be paid on
Wednesday, 23 October 2019, subject to approval by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) will be held on Thursday, 19
September 2019. A notice convening the meeting will be issued and sent
to the Shareholders in due course.

Further details of the dividends of our Company are set out in note 11 to
the financial statements.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting, the register of members will be closed from Monday, 16
September 2019 to Thursday, 19 September 2019, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for attending and voting at the annual general meeting, all
completed transfer forms, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged for registration with our Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13 September 2019.

To ascertain entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members will be closed from Wednesday, 25 September 2019 to
Monday, 30 September 2019, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, which is subject to approval of Shareholders at
the annual general meeting, all completed transfer forms, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24 September 2019.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable and other donations made by our Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$890,000.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of the issued capital information of our Company are set out in
note 24 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Our Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and other reserves. However, our Company did not have any
distributable reserves as at 31 March 2019.

Details of the movements in the reserves of our Group during the year
under review are set out on page 71 respectively.
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FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our Group
for the last 4 financial years is set out on pages 155 to 156 of this report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)*
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta*
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit*
Mr. Ma Ching Fung*

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP*

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson**

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda**

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP**

* effective date of appointment on 29 October 2018
ok effective date of appointment on 22 April 2019

Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association provides that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Our Company
at the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated
office. According the Article 108(b), the Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to obtain the number required) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.
Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in
the three years preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by
rotation at such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to
retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became
or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Accordingly, Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, Mr. Cheung Wai Kit, Mr.
Ma Ching Fung, Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, Ms. Wong Hang Yee,
JP, Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson
and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. All of the
above Directors will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of our
Group are set out on pages 35 to 46 of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other changes to
the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with our Company, pursuant to which
each of them agreed to act as an executive Director and non-executive
Director for an initial term of three years commenced from the Listing
Date. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed upon the
expiry of the then current term. The service agreement can be terminated
by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with our Company, pursuant to which each of them
agreed to act as an independent non-executive Director of our Company
for an initial term of three years commenced from the Listing Date. The
term of the letter of appointment shall be renewed upon the expiry of the
then current term until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to enter into a
service contract or letter of appointment with our Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by our Company within one year
without the payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the
business of our Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, no transaction,
arrangement or contracts of significance to which our Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the financial year under review or at any time during the
financial year under review.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS HELD
BY DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND
THEIR ASSOCIATES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of the
directors, chief executives and their associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of our Company or any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by our Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Interests in the shares of the Company
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executives of our Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register
maintained by our Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which
had been notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, our
Company considers that all of its independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at the date of this report, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons or corporations (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions of 5% or more
in the shares or underlying shares of our Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of our Company or its
associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this report, none of
the related party transactions as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report is a connected transaction.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which our Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company or any of its subsidiaries
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the financial year under review or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 was our Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company were
entered into or in existence during the financial year under review.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2019, our Group had an aggregate of 86 full-time
employees in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore, Malaysia
and Indonesia.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of our Company is reviewed regularly,
making reference primarily to the market conditions and performance
of our Company and individual staff (including the Directors).
Remuneration package includes, as the case may by, basic salary,
Director’s remuneration, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to financial performance of our Group and individual
performance. After Listing, the remuneration policy and remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board, having regard to Director’s
experience, duties and responsibilities, performance and achievement.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENT

Our Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of our Group in an independently administered fund. Our Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of our Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentages of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to our Group’s five largest customers accounted for 77.4%
of our Group’s total turnover and the revenue attributable to our Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 33.0% of our Group’s
revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of purchases
attributable to our Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 59.2% of our Group’s purchases and the purchases
attributable to our Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately
22.0% of our Group’s purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates nor any
shareholder (who or which to the best knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the issued share capital of our Company) has any
interest in the top five customers and top five suppliers of our Group
during the financial year under review.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
PARTIES

Our Group recognises the employees as the most important and
valuable assets of our Group. The objective of our Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by
providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a
sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and
to promote career development and progression by appropriate on-the-
job training and providing opportunities within our Group for career
advancement.

The Directors are of view that employees, customers, suppliers and
bankers are the keys to the sustainable development of our Group and
the Company has been maintaining a good relationship with the key
stakeholders.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO
THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The followings are the
key risks and uncertainties identified by our Group. There are no material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on our Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Business risk is the risk related to our business and industry that
deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives.
The management of our Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

The business performance, results of operations and financial condition
may be materially and adversely affected if:

(i) our Group fails to source high-quality, popular media content/
brands from media content/brand licensors upon terms acceptable
to us or if there is any loss or deterioration of relationship with our
media content/brand licensors;

(i) our Group fails to identify sufficient or suitable customers for our
licensed media content;

(iii) our Group fails to identify the market trend and our licensed media
content/brands fail to compete successfully with other media
content/brands;

(iv) acts of piracy and copyright infringement or any type of
infringement, due to technological advances and upgrades, are
prevalent in many parts of the world, in particular the PRC;

(v) there is any imposition of additional or more stringent laws or
regulations on the distribution of media content by the PRC
government or governments of other regions.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions in
the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. The management will identify
and assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate risk
response can be taken.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of losses
relative to the expected return on any particular investment. Key concern
of investment framework will be balancing risk and return across
different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the
investment decision process. Proper authorisation system has been set
up and detailed analysis will be made before approving investments.
Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would
be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills, experience
and competence which would meet the business objectives of the Group.
The Group will provide attractive remuneration package to suitable
candidates and personnel.

Financial Risk

Our Group’s also faces financial risks including foreign currency risk
and credit risk. Details of these financial risks are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, if our Group fail to
recoup its minimum guarantee paid to the media content/brand licensors,
the licensed assets may be subject to further write-down.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to our Company,
and so far as the Directors are aware of, our Company has maintained
a sufficient public float from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY

PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to date of this report,
our Company has in force indemnity provisions for the benefit of the
Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions are provided according
to the Articles of Associations and our Company has maintained the
directors and officers liability insurance in respect of potential liability
and costs associated with any legal proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of our Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to supporting environmental protection to
ensure business development and sustainability. Our Group implements
green office practices to reduce the consumption of energy and natural
resources. These practices include the use of energy saving lightings
and recycled paper, reduce energy consumption by switching off
idle lightings, computers and electrical appliances and the use of
environmentally friendly products whenever possible. A separate
environmental, social and governance report is expected to be published
on the Stock Exchange’s website and our Company’s website no later
than three months after the annual report has been published.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having
made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operations of our Company and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to date of this
report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group or existed
during the financial year under review.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The shares of our Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 21 May 2019. After deduction of the underwriting fees
and commissions and estimated expenses payable by our Company in
connection with the Global Offering, the net proceeds from issuance of
the shares of the Company in connection with the Listing are estimated
to be approximately HK$185.9 million. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company does not anticipate any change to its plan on the use
of proceeds and the net proceeds have not been utilised.

The Board closely monitored the use of proceeds from the Listing
with reference to the use of proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus and
confirmed that there was no change in the proposed use of proceeds as
previously disclosed in the Prospectus.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SHARES

Neither our Company nor any of our subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of our Company’s listed shares since the Listing Date up
to the date of this report.
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BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2019, our Group did not have any interest-bearing or
external borrowings.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2019, our Group was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against our Group so far our Group is
aware.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of our Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the conclusion
of the AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia

Director
27 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R S EES

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Medialink Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medialink
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 67 to 154, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
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Key audit matter

HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNEAEEFERETSTENS X

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 FE W 508 19 6 18 T 1

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$111,045,000, representing approximately 23%
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for the trade receivables,
with reference to the ageing profile of the trade receivables,
historical credit loss experience and both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.
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The accounting policy, significant accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures are included in notes 3.2, 4
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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In evaluating management’s impairment assessment, our
procedures included: (i) obtaining evidence of subsequent
settlements for trade receivable balances on a sample
basis; (ii) evaluating management’s assumptions used
to determine the ECL through testing of the underlying
information in the ageing reports and assessing the
historical credit loss experience of the debtors as well as
the forward-looking factors with reference to the related
publicly available information; and (iii) assessing the
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation to trade
receivables included in the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ARETEE EMNETEEFERESSBENTE

Net realisable value of licensed rights

RER 85 FE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group recorded licensed rights In evaluating management’s assessment, our procedures
of HK$139,407,000, representing approximately 29% included: (i) obtaining an understanding of the net
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management realisable value assessments made by management; (ii)
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the reviewing the licensed rights ageing report; (iii) obtaining
net realisable value of the licensed rights, with reference evidence of subsequent sales of the licensed rights on a
to the ageing analysis, historical sales pattern, expectation sample basis; and (iv) assessing the reasonableness of the
of future saleability of the licensed rights based on current sales projections prepared by management, on a sample
market conditions and other specific attributes that might basis.

have an impact on the sales projections. PR E AR WRWBRFA )T MERRE
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The accounting policy, significant accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures are included in notes 3.2, 4
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Other information included in the annual report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements (consinued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZE TR
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HOEAE WA o AR PR BT ) 7 at
B > EC RSB HSCE I
A BB KA B E M > A8 T AT RE
HE HEBWRHEKER IEL
K LE i o R IR ER Sy AEAE E R
ASHEE M - QA b B AR A% BICRT S
FREGHEESE G M BERES
B AH BE % 2% o A A B R B EE AN 2
A FRAM e B R E MR B W - B
AP 9 & sy A 2 S A2 R R 2 B AR Pir
WA FEFTEE - ARWM > KR FIE
W TR ES HEEARRFE

o ARSI BT HR A RIS WO K
MMAMAE > W U RS
PABS R 1 A 5 M I

o EbHRSE I B SO I ) 0
B 55 IR AE A2 0 e
DL 4 BB R TR - R

Ma®m BEMFTNTm - B
AT o« A 2 3 5 B AR IE 42
HAE -

PR A S IH A > M S R B g
TREE AR R - RE R P R
AEEEBLSE o B A AR R P O A
#8 2 ) B A A O sk

WA FEE R FRCEY > 3K
B FF & A B 8 57 B0 AR B B 36 7E 1l
Ko S B At P 3 28 A AT RE & B B R 2
B 5 B B SR Y BT A BR AR AN A
W LR AE RO o AR B R B R
i

ReE N B AR EIH T A
E W L6 = TH 3 A ) AR S S AR Y 3 R
B Jy L [N A A B B R R OH o K
AP 7 A% B b e Se R E - R E
EHREMAAAT AR EELEHEE > K
e B i 5 RS DR o R A BT A
FAM ¥ 1 28 BE I IH A AR BT AR R
A A AR 2 o FAM R E N B AE
Wl i ez I o

2019468# RHEEERAT 65




Independent Auditor’s Report

B EETHRE

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the ZEE MBS GRS B HRRA
consolidated financial statements (consinuea) EOEEw

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent  H{ A B 7 B # AT @ & W FEFHHEHE 4%
auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary. N FRE -

Ernst & Young ZXEEEXFT

Certified Public Accountants S ES g

22/F CITIC Tower EaRE

1 Tim Mei Avenue B

Central N FEE19E

Hong Kong (s KE 224

27 June 2019 20194F6 H 27 H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meEmK

Year ended 31 March 2019
BIZ20195%3A31HLEE

2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&ET T 0
REVENUE W 2= 6 475,522 313,876
Cost of sales B B B AR (247,330) (156,910)
Gross profit EEvill 228,192 156,966
Other income and gains, net HoAth e A B i 2 1 BH 6 5,496 17,541
Selling and distribution expenses S8 K o 6 B S (47,956) (43,959)
General and administrative expenses — e K AT BB S (62,575) (24,869)
Other expenses, net Ho At BA 32 (48 (4,898) 182
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B Al % F 7 118,259 105,812
Income tax expense T 15981 B 32 10 (12,676) (11,977)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R 105,583 93,835
Attributable to: DATR 45 T E A
Owner of the parent (EYNGIE RPN 105,579 93,899
Non-controlling interests I ¥ R HE 45 4 (64)
105,583 93,835
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBERIEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ORDINARY [E{ESRER
EQUITY HOLDER OF THE PARENT 12
Basic FAR HK?7.1 cents HKG6.3 cents
7.8 4L 6.3 Il
Diluted kv HK?7.1 cents HKG6.3 cents
705840 6.3 Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeZHEWER

Year ended 31 March 2019
BZE201953831HILLFE

2019 2018
20194 20184F

HK$°000 HK$’000
THET T TT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 105,583 93,835

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Eft 2 E Wz~ (E8)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be REBEIEEEER S EE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 4 1 Ho At 2 Tl 25
periods: (5 18) -
Exchange differences on translation of WA HPER EAEN
foreign operations B b8, 25 %1 234 (1,373)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR HFR2HEKZEHS#%E

THE YEAR 105,817 92,462
Attributable to: PLTF £ THEAL -
Owner of the parent BAFHA A 105,813 92,526
Non-controlling interests I ¥ R 45 4 (64)
105,817 92,462
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB R

31 March 2019
20193 H31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i FH&ET T oo
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE BN N 13 7,396 8,388
Goodwill TR A 14 29,709 —
Intangible assets A G 15 11,549 10,241
Deposits Cirgery 18 129 350
Total non-current assets JE I B G AlE 48,783 18,979
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Licensed assets ZREEE 16 142,823 107,824
Trade receivables B 5 eI IA 17 111,045 121,298
Prepayments, deposits and TEATRIE - e K
other receivables At 1 i B 18 9,975 2,735
Due from related parties JRE Wi B 4 TR 29(b) — 5,280
Tax recoverable AT YA (=] A IH 6,746 870
Cash and cash equivalents He RS EY 19 163,754 169,067
Total current assets i B R A 434,343 407,074
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables B 5 AT 3K IA 20 125,579 79,749
Accruals and other payables JRE ST 22 B At JE A5 3 IH 21 57,048 33,309
Contract liabilities G AE 22 30,073 25,865
Due to a shareholder JEASE — 42 B PR IE 29(b) — 34,477
Dividend payables JRE A e S —_ 53,250
Tax payable JRE A+ 3 T 708 1,699
Total current liabilities B A AR 213,408 228,349
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 220,935 178,725
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 269,718 197,704
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEME
Deferred tax liabilities R S 3 TH 4 K 23 951 —
Net assets B E E 268,767 197,704
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R BRI R

31 March 2019
20193 H31H

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET THT
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to owner of BATEE AEGESR
the parent
Issued capital B BT AR 24 — _
Reserves et G 25 268,767 197,793
268,767 197,793
Non-controlling interests T I 4 — (89)
Total equity HAHE 2 268,767 197,704
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia Ma Ching Fung
i /) FIE#
Director Director
£ &
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
nf\é*ﬁ?&@i}]%

Year ended 31 March 2019
BZE2019%3H31HLEE

Attributable to owner of the parent

BRREE AR

Exchange Non-
Issued Capital Other fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total equity

HE
BERTRA EXREE HeRE  KBRE KSR @t FERESR oy £
Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$000  HK$000
sk T T T t T T T T

5(a) (note 25(b))  (note 25(c))

(WFEE25(b))  (HERE25(c))

At 1 April 2017 2017445 1H — 1 — 633 154,633 155,267 (25) 155,242
Profit/(loss) for the year FERER/ (R — = = = 93,899 93,899 (64) 93,835
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ 4F [k F At 4 [ 48
Exchange differences on translation of 4 i} N 3ET & /£ £

foreign operations B i 5% — — = (1,373) = (1,373) = (1,373)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) ER2TE/ (EE)

for the year fkl = - — (1,373) 93,899 92,526 (64) 92,462
Dividends 95! 11 — — — — (50,000) (50,000) — (50,000)
At 31 March 2018 201863311 — 1 — (740) 198,532 197,793 (89) 197,704
Impact on the initial application of Y HE f it B ¥ it

HKFRS 9 LR HELE2 23 - - - - (2,254) (2,254) - (2,254)
At 1 April 2018 (adjusted) R20I8FAH1H (KA %) - 1 - (740) 196,278 195,539 (89) 195450
Profit for the year AF it A — - — — 105,579 105,579 4 105,583
Other comprehensive income for AR A2 I

the year:

Exchange differences on translation of 4 1 AN 3T i /£ ff

foreign operations I 5 28 - - - 234 - 234 - 234
Total comprehensive income G T ER

for the year - - — 234 105,579 105,813 4 105,817
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Ui 3 £ i #E £ 29(a) - - (85) - - (85) 85 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary B — T A 26 - 40,000 - - - 40,000 - 40,000
Dividends i) 11 - - - - (72,500) (72,500 - (72,500)
At 31 March 2019 201943 /131 H — 40,001* (85)* (506)* 229,357 268,767 - 268,767

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$268,767,000 (2018:  * B2 5 Gt A TR L 3 AR S S AR L R B AR G
HK$197,793,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 268,767,000 7T (20184F : 197,793,000% JT.) °

201965 LREMARAT 71 -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SERETRER

Year ended 31 March 2019
BE20195F3A31BLEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETHFERERE

Notes

B 5k

2019
20194

HK$°000

FiER

2018
20184F
HK$’000
T 0

Profit before tax I A i i A 118,259 105,812
Adjustments for: LA & TEAE o FH
Interest income FILE WA 6 (355) (192)
Depreciation e 7 1,304 1,172
Amortisation of intangible assets T i 8 7 13,262 1,521
Impairment of intangible assets T & 7 W 7 — 857
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W SR T 7 2,366 78
Reversal of impairment of trade B G Wik T ek (43 ]
receivables 7 (1,671) (19)
Write-off of trade receivables B2 5y W AT K T L B 7 2 =
Write-off of items of property, plant and W3k ~ W5 B sk A T H R
equipment 7 — 3
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of 152 HE T e 2= W] S R VR
licensed rights to net realisable value, (B A% ] ) 3%
net 7 3,908 (1,053)
137,075 108,179
Increase in licensed assets 0 & E 3 (26,575) (22,127)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 ME Wk E 3 > (B ) 44,440 (7,153)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TAATEIE ~ i 4 By HoAth RE U 3Kk
deposits and other receivables TE WA () (6,348) 732
Increase in amounts due from related JRRE M R B 7 K T 1
parties (2,246) (680)
Increase in trade payables B 5 WEAS SR TE 18 18,321 5,765
Increase in accruals and other payables JE =T &,ﬂ\:ﬂﬁﬁﬁ ARG 20,108 2,149
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities GHAEEm S (W) (34,492) 14,469
Cash generated from operations R8T Bl & 150,283 101,334
Hong Kong profits tax paid EENEEREY Y (19,226) (10,098)
Overseas tax paid E AT S BLIE (674) =
Net cash flows from operating activities 8 4% TE ) B A5 B 4 B VR A 130,383 91,236

- 72 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2019
BIZ2019%3A31HLEFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE T T 0
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHFESHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 A B 355 192
Purchases of items of property, plant and [ & #) 2 ~ B 5 K st JE H
equipment (604) (295)
Purchases of intangible assets i B Y & (6,561) 39)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi i — ] i g 2 ) 26 31,658 —

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing WEFEH G () B4

activities it = A 24,848 (142)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHRESEETRE

ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid E AT IS 27(b) (125,750) —
Advance from a shareholder JE TR R 27(b) — 760
Repayment to a shareholder 8 75 % A 27(b) (34,475) (49,755)
Net cash flows used in financing activities il & i B Fr i 81 & i &= 1 48 (160,225) (48,995)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH HR4ELHEESZEYEM

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OR ) F8 (4,994) 42,099
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 44 i 4 M Bl & % & W)

of the year 169,067 128,680
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ 3% % #f) 5 2% (5 %H) (319) (1,712)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EXBEERESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 163,754 169,067

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBASEEYELRDN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances W4 RARAT #5 BR 19 163,754 169,067
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Notes to Financial Statements

BTSRRI RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Medialink Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital
Road, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
RLA Company Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”). The shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 21 May 2019 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

J media content distribution and investment in media content
production (“Media Content Distribution Business”)

U brand licensing (“Brand Licensing Business”)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
ERTER/
ot R

AR,
HMRkE R

Medialink Animation Hong Kong HK$?2
International Limited

RABE BB ARAE  FiE 2T

Medialink Entertainment Hong Kong HK$10
Limited

AIRERRA R i 1037
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AABEEERADL
Direct
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b A VA ﬁi\Cayman Corporate Centre,
27 Hospital Road, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands °
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EDRE > ANFAMNMEEERA
A R fx # 5 ] 28 W] Z5RLA Company
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HE(TREARRTER))

e MMM (mERERERE)

B B 2 B &
AN F) E B A A R SR

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

Principal activities

FREH

Indirect

A&

100 Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency
services

100 Fl R FHEHE 5 R AR AT o AU AR

100  Distribution of licensed media
content; sublicensing of brands;
theatrical release; and investment
in media content production

100 BERTELEHS A 31T 5 SRR
T 5 IBRBE M 5 R fAERE 2 4
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2EAREEER
INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (consinued) M A Bl &R )
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
business capital Company Principal activities
LAY BRTER/
AfREFeE  ERRE ERREEEEEIE FTEXK
Direct  Indirect
EE Bk
Medialink (Far East) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency
services
Medialink (Far East) Limited 7 i 27T — 100 WRFHEEHE 5 R 4R A% A 1B S
Medialink Brand Management Singapore Singapore dollar — 100 Provision of licensing agency
Pte Limited* (“SGD”) 10 services
Medialink Brand Management 3 fli3% 103 3 e = 100 45 (452 E X 38 AR
Pte Limited* ([E g ]
Medialink (Shanghai) Co., People’s Republic of  US$850,000 — 100 Provision of sales, marketing and
Limited** China (“PRC”)/ administrative support services to
Mainland China group companies
AAZECLERE (Bi)  PEARLME 850,003 5T — 100 S 2 Rl R B - TR R
HIRA A (@l / 17 B R A
o A
Whateversmiles Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 100 Investment holding and investment
in media content production
Whateversmiles Limited i 1003 ¢ — 100 45 B8 i Jo R 0 3 AR 1
Whateversmilestk 2\ & 41*  Japan Japanese Yen — 100  Investment in media content
(“JPY”) production
5,000,000
Whateversmilestk A & 4t* A& 5,000,000 H [&] — 100 HEENARERE
(TEE))
Medialink Licensing BVI US$1 100 —  Investment Holding
Holdings Limited 13 November 2018
PR RA A £ ) aeids £ 100 — BEER
2018511 713H
Medialink Entertainment BVI US$1 100 — Investment Holding
Holdings Limited 13 November 2018
R R A KRR LS B 100 — HEER
2018411 713H
Medialink Investment BVI US$1 100 — Investment Holding
Holdings Limited 13 November 2018
P IR BB PERCA IR 7] Eg A 1%7T 100 — BREER
2018511 H13H
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

1.

2.1

.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continuea)

* The statutory financial statements of these companies are not audited by Ernst
& Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network

& The company is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established

under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

On 27 June 2018 and 27 August 2018, the Group acquired a
15% equity interest in Whateversmiles Limited and the entire
equity interest in Medialink Animation International Limited,
respectively. Further details of the transactions are set out in notes
29(a) and 26 to the financial statements, respectively.

REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION

Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Company in connection with
the Listing (the “Reorganisation”), the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the Group on
26 November 2018. The companies now comprising the Group
were under the common control of Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (the
“Controlling Shareholder”) before and after the Reorganisation.
In addition, the Controlling Shareholder obtained control over
Medialink Animation International Limited (“MAIL”) on 27
August 2018 after acquiring the remaining 50% equity interest
in MAIL for a cash consideration of HK$20,000,000 and this
transaction was accounted as a business combination by applying
the acquisition method of accounting.

Accordingly, these financial statements have been prepared
by applying the principles of merger accounting as if the
Reorganisation had been completed at the beginning of the earliest
period presented. Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the
paragraphs headed “Reorganisation” in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 April 2019 (the “Prospectus”).
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2.1

2.2

REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION (Continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019 include the results and cash flows of all companies now
comprising the Group from the earliest date presented or since the
date when the subsidiaries first came under the common control
of the Controlling Shareholder, where this is a shorter period. The
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2019 has been prepared to present the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiaries using the existing book values from the
Controlling Shareholder’s perspective. No adjustments are made
to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities as a
result of the Reorganisation.

Equity interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the
Controlling Shareholder, and changes therein, prior to the
Reorganisation are presented as non-controlling interests in equity
in applying the principles of merger accounting.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
combination.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention. They are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000)
except when otherwise indicated.

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1

2.2

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (cConsinued) 22 MRBLEE 4

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owner of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.2

23

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (coniinued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i1) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

New and revised HKFRSs effective for the accounting period
commencing from 1 April 2018, together with the relevant
transitional provisions, had been adopted by the Group to
the earliest period presented, except for HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) which has been adopted by the Group
from 1 April 2018 as the standard does not allow the use of
hindsight if it is adopted retrospectively.

HKEFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting
for financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group has recognised the
transition adjustments against the applicable opening balances in
equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.
The adoption of HKFRS 9 has had no significant impact on
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
instruments. The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 9
relate to the impairment requirements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 B BEREHREE

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKEFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments that are not
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9,
to be recorded based on an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model
either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group has
applied the simplified approach and recorded lifetime expected
credit losses of trade receivables both on a specific and collective
basis according to management’s assessment of the recoverability
of an individual receivable. Differences arising from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 have been recognised directly in retained profits
as of 1 April 2018 and the affected financial statement items are
disclosed below:

B s BB i M B SR ok B E IR B
i BB e 1 YE B SR o5 M H A T
AR R AR T A e o M
HHGEEER((EHEERR) M
e R A B E PR A
W o A 5 B B B 5 Ak 9 Oy ikl AR
P84 BH R SR I FE Wi sk TE Y AT i el
T2 B ST A e AR Bl ke B R v ST Bk
PR 1A & ) e ik TE TE A AR Rl A -
TR A s P 75 4 B R SR O 5% 2 A 1Y
Z B P R 201844 A 1 H M £+ & i Al

O R AR o T 52 R R IS R IR

BT

Closing Opening

balance at Restatement balance at

31 March adjustment 1 April 2018

2018 (under on adoption (under

HKAS 39) of HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9)

20185

120185 4H1H

3A31H A B &R

B R &5 B4 BER0K (R

(RESE HEZEA BB

25t EA FOHREBH HEER

Consolidated statement of $£395%) BEAE $£95%)

financial position HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

RE M BARR K T T THIT
Assets BE

Trade receivables B 5y FE K T8 121,298 (2,254) 119,044
Equity =

Reserves it fhi 197,793 (2,254) 195,539

The reconciliation of the ending impairment allowances in
accordance with HKAS 39 to the opening loss allowances
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 is set out in note 17.
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3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
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statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
B W B 5 i i M I 55398 (B RTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9
B W B 5 i i I 55998 (B RTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
T v B 5 i 1 T R S5 1058 2
Fis g st 252858 (20114F) (BRI A)
HKFRS 16
B W A5 i 1 1 FI 55 16958
HKFRS 17
B W 5 i 1 1 JI) 55 17558
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
B v g e ISR 198 0 v o wt vE R SR 8 5E
(BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 19
FW R 19598 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 28
B & et M A 52858 (B FTA%)
HK{FRIC)-Int 23
ik (BEMHEREREEZAEY)
— @ REE235E
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

16 5T A 5 B 5 e 5 E )

Definition of a Business’®

ETN9E 7

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

HA A w2 M SCH R

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

BB HLI 8 2 F] 2 4 A 2 1 B T

Leases’

HE

Insurance Contracts’
R B G #93

Definition of Material?

AN EF?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!

A BERT ~ B 2 47 F

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures’
HIE L ARG E LAl R

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments!

PIF 13 B JE P 1 A~ e GE 1 1A 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and

HKAS 23!
20154 201 74 # B 19 4F J& 2

s B S YR R B3R s S R YR RS 1 15% - A

& ke RIS 1298 & A vk g wt e R SR 23 R By A T

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
Applicable to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that
period

(7 R S

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So
far, the Group considers that these new and revised HKFRSs may
result in changes in accounting policies and are unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
financial position. Further information about those HKFRSs that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below:
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 31 EREMEMAKRERNEE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business,
it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output.
A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40 Investment Property,
or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments.
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3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest
expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.

Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group plans to
adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2019 and will not
restate the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount
of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before the date of
initial application.

The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the standard on
lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the
date of initial application. As disclosed in note 28 to the financial
statements, the Group had future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of HK$983,000 as
at 31 March 2019. Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities. Further detailed analysis, however,
will be needed to determine the amount of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited
to any amounts relating to leases of low value assets and short-
term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new
leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 31 EREMEMAKRERNEE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply
to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about
the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is
to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without
the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from
1 April 2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (conzinuea)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than licensed
rights and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (consinued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

5% to 10%
Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 33'3%

Leasehold properties
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% to 33'/3%
Computer equipment 30% to 33'/3%
Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Programme rights, computer software and brand licensing contracts
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Programme rights and
brand licensing contracts are amortised based on the proportion of
actual income earned during the year to the total estimated income.
The computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 5 years.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Before 1 April 2018, financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and receivables.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (consinued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

From 1 April 2018, financial assets are classified at initial
recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost. The
classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s business
model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages
its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. In order
for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments

Before 1 April 2018, loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
and the loss arising from impairment are included in profit or loss.

From 1 April 2018, the Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

J The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
U the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from

the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (conzinuea)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms. The amount of ECLs is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
the initial recognition of the respective financial instruments.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (conzinuea)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables
and measures the lifetime ECLs on a specific basis according to
management’s assessment of the recoverability of an individual
receivable. Management considers the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding, historical experience and
forward-looking information to determine the recoverability of the
trade receivable.

All other financial instruments are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for the measurement of ECLs.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHREHME w0

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future prospects of
the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

U existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor ’s ability to meet its debt obligation;

U an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

U an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor ’s
ability to meet its debt obligation.

Despite the aforementioned, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if: (i) it has a low risk of default
(i.e., no default history); (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and
(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (coninued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Based on historical experience, the Group considers that default
has occurred and additional credit risk mitigating measures will
be taken when the instrument is more than one year past due. In
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the

Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

U significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
J the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower ’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

U it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedure, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised directly in profit or loss.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Licensed assets

Licensed assets relate to media content distribution rights and
brand sub-licensing rights (collectively “licensed rights”) granted
by licensors to the Group over a definitive licence period.

Licensed rights are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

When the Group has signed the licensing agreements and when the
licence period has yet to begin, these acquisition costs are recorded
as prepayments included in “Licensed assets”.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHEME

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to
the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contracts.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

U when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

U in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHREHME w0

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when the Group has fulfilled the obligations
stated in the contracts, and when the Group has transferred control
over relative goods or services to the customer, on the following
bases:

Media Content Distribution Business

The Group distributes media content including animation series,
variety shows, drama series, animated and live-action feature films
and other video content, which are licensed from third party media
content licensors, to customers. Content licensing agreements are
entered into with the media content licensors which have definitive
licence periods and give the Group the rights to sub-licence the
right of use of the media content to other third parties. The Group
then enters into content sub-licensing agreements with customers
for a period that falls within the original licence period with the
licensors, pursuant to which the Group will grant exclusive or non-
exclusive rights to use the media content (sub-licensed from the
media content licensors) in certain territories.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of content sub-
licensing arrangements, including selecting the customers,
providing the media content, and controlling specifications of the
content sub-licensing arrangements, including the pricing and
territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal in such
arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a gross
basis, which is the amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised media content to customers. The relevant amounts to
be paid to the media content licensors as stated in the content
licensing agreements are recorded in cost of sales.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Media Content Distribution Business (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Distribution of licensed media content

The Group recognises revenue from the distribution of media
content at the point in time when all the following criteria are
met: (i) persuasive evidence of a sub-licensing arrangement
with a customer exists; (ii) the media content has been
delivered or has been made available for the customer’s right
to use and there is no requirement for significant continued
performance by the Group; (iii) the sub-licensing period of
the arrangement has begun and the customer can begin its
exploitation of the media content; and (iv) collectability of
the sub-licensing fee is reasonably assured.

Theatrical release income

Income from theatrical release represents the Group’s share
of box office sales from films exhibited in movie theatres,
after the deduction of direct taxes and charges in relation to
the exhibition. The Group’s share of income is determined in
accordance with the sharing ratio mutually agreed between
the Group and the movie theatres.

Income from theatrical release is recognised at the point in
time when all the following criteria are met: (i) the films are
exhibited in movie theatres; (ii) the amount of income can be
measured reliably; and (iii) the collectability of the entitled
proceeds is reasonably assured.

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

32 FEEFTHEME @

REEFEFEHZWA @)

RENRBITERS )

(a) BEITIRFELR N
AR FF A LAR BT R
IR [ B e 58 I B N R BB AT T AR
Wi OFERBREF BRE
e SR 1R GiE =
Ll R A B &S A R
Ao BAEEG & EERER
FIWHLE 5 (i) & PE Y AR RE
E B4 - 1% 5 Al BA 4f 5% i i
BN 5 KGv) PR A AT
W 1| HL A B AR R o

(b) BT A
A& 1 I8 B T FY) Wi i B B
O A B B R BHE K E A
& A SR T A A R B R 1Y
TR A o AR 4 A 0
A T3 AR4E A £ 1] B 5 B 2 ] 36
[F] 1o 72 1) 48 73 B 1) i 7B S o

A B I8 B i G e AR A A DA
T 6 F I B I R B T R ()
BB R R BRI 5 Gl A & B
Aenl SE R 5 (i) ME = Ar 15 3K
TE 2 n] i [ 1 RE A B SE -

201968 BHEEEEAT103 -



Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (consinued)

Brand Licensing Business

The Group obtains various rights to use third-party owned brands,
which may include certain merchandising rights, location-based
entertainment rights and promotion rights, and generates revenue
by either sub-licensing the use of these brands to customers or
acting as agent for the brand licensors.

(a) Sub-licensing of brands

Brand licensing agreements are entered into with the brand
licensors which have definitive licensing periods and give
the Group the rights to sub-license the brands to other third
parties. The Group then enters into brand sub-licensing
agreements with customers for a period that falls within the
original licensing period with the licensors, pursuant to which
the Group will grant non-exclusive rights for the customers to
access the brands for the categories of products or consumer
promotions and activities as stipulated in the sub-licensing
agreements. The Group receives fixed and non-refundable
amounts or minimum guarantees in advance from the sub-
licensees and recognises the amounts over the sub-licensing
periods as stipulated in the relevant agreements with the sub-
licensees. In addition, the Group also earns additional sales-
based royalties when cumulative royalties are in excess of
the minimum guarantees and these additional royalties are
recognised as revenue when the minimum guarantees are
exceeded on a cumulative basis.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of the
brand sub-licensing arrangement, including selecting the
customers and controlling the specifications of the brand sub-
licensing arrangement, including the pricing and territories
of distribution, it considers itself as a principal in such
arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a gross
basis, which is the amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised right of use to a customer. The
relevant royalty to be paid to the brand licensors as stated in
the brand licensing agreements is recorded in cost of sales.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Brand Licensing Business (Continued)

(b)

Provision of licensing agency services

The Group also provides integrated licensing agency services
to licensors in return for agency service fees which are
based on a certain percentage of the total royalty received or
receivable by the licensors. The integrated licensing agency
services mainly include (i) identifying potential licensees;
(ii) negotiating terms of contracts with licensees on behalf
of the licensors; (iii) assisting in promoting brands on behalf
of licensors; and (iv) collecting royalty fees on behalf of the
licensors. These services are rendered by the Group over the
licensing periods of the relevant licensing agreements and the
agency service fees are recognised as revenue over time.

The Group has evaluated and determined that it is not the
primary obligor in the services rendered and is therefore,
acting as agent in the arrangements. Accordingly, the Group
recognises its revenue on a net basis, which is the Group’s
share of the total royalty earned by licensors.

Included in the sub-licensing of brands and the provision of
licensing agency services, the Group delivers materials for
the events organised by the Group’s customers and provides
holographic approval stickers/labels to sub-licensees as approval of
their products. The Group recognises revenue at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, which is on
delivery of the materials or holographic approval stickers/labels.

(c)

Sales of merchandise

Income from the sales of licensed merchandise is recognised
at a point in time when the control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, i.e., delivery of the merchandise to the
customer.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FESHHREHME w0

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other income

Management fee and commission income

The Group provides corporate and business support services,
and agency support services to a related company and the related
income is recognised in the period in which the relevant services
are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

AC COUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (cContinued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

- 108 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report

32 FEESTHERBME @

INEE )

o 8 AR Y RE GO 25 AR R L Ath 4 T U
o fifE 52 > ol 2 A A RE B ik e o
O AN TSR > A B R R E 4R b
B W e S Tl 1 I =

=7

20

PRI s B i b S8 55 T 2R 22 AT ] R
LigEmREE Az IRnEZ
OV (B B R SN SE R I B
7 N B AR i B Sl AR R O OR B 3R
& .

MG ARERERTS > 5B
AFAIMBRERERE SR EELE
H i) FE 5 58 5 Wk o0 © BEA0 T B
AEFEREELENE SR BEHFER
0 ARE - 24 BEE R W T o

E ARG H R MAEE

TE B B A 55 1) B B e 3R By > B E
ZEAE R B~ R OB T A B
B ~ il R IR e BT 2 ik
> B SC R HLA i e A DL MOH
BB K 4 5% I BOAR BRI BB o BE AR R
B AG T2 A BB R 3R AT RS B
TERRGEHEZVBREEXNARZ
AR TH B A S EE R AR -

#

T TE R A 4R B e R BUR R
B T AR H W KAl w2 B A > R
T R 5 B o A B B S B
KO MR SRR REREE



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Principal versus agent considerations

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
its customer, the Group determines whether it is a principal or an
agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its promise
to the customer. The Group is a principal and records revenue on
a gross basis if it controls the promised goods or services before
transferring them to the customer. However, if the Group’s role is
only to arrange for another entity to provide the goods or services,
then the Group is an agent and will need to record revenue at
the net amount that it retains for its agency services. The Group
controls the goods or services when it has the ability to direct the
use of, and obtain substantially all the remaining benefits from, the
goods or services. This includes the ability to prevent others from
directing the use or obtaining the benefits of the goods or services.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in multiple jurisdictions. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its transactions in
accordance with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining the
Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many transactions
and calculations of which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact on the
current tax and deferred tax provision in the periods in which the
determination is made.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Purchase price allocation

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The fair values of such assets and
liabilities require the Group to make estimates and assumptions.
The business combination completed during the current financial
year is disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (consinued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Further details are set out in note
14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Net realisable value of licensed rights

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of
licensed rights with reference to ageing analysis and other specific
assessments including projections of expected future sales based
on historical sales patterns and other specific attributes, and
management experience and judgement. Based on such review,
write-down of the licensed rights will be made when the carrying
amounts of licensed rights decline below their estimated net
realisable values.

Due to changes in market and economic environment and
customers’ preference, actual saleability of licensed rights and
actual selling prices that could be realised might be different from
the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in this estimation.

- 110 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report

E RS H R

5t 2 T HEE M )

& Bl E

A5 [ 5 2 g 4 R TR A E
WG 2 Al w2 43 B P R Y B AR
fir 2 6 A AR AE o Al w6 R {8 (B 20 dh
A AR B B e AR B 2 THER R AR
S o (R L - e
BERUGAZERCHEZBE -
GREEIY IR R e U

HEHEE (BEUI) B

A SR R A5 i U)K R AL BT AR
Bl A A B AT A B (E R &R - JF
& E R A PR 5BUR AT B 9K 0k
[m] S5 1 (B 0 ol Bl M o A BB
< A B A 2 R AT (L G AT o [
S A (B 22 oF {6 980t B R A B i
EEME ZRRE) - BRR @B
(B o 23 {E 45 AR TS 2 B
UK % A R ADEST BA R 2
8 8 22 By B 49 B ik o T L5 T 45
WANER R 2 B A
aE 50 M (E > B B L6 R il 5
B BB AR B 2 Al R R R B
SR M E Z B R D
AAZERHSERBEZHE -

RER 25 FE

A S5 AR % ) A5 HE 09 B i 0 BT e
il 45 7 R (64 5 A A8 7 o 5 A X
Jo H At R 52 DR 3B T OR A B Y
TE ) DA K LA i N K e A A
EHE Y BR T o % IR A AR X
HRE A7 452 HE MR ThD L B 2 K R KL Al wt
T 5 3 U (R I T DA o

F A T 3 I A R ER B DA K e
i 5 By o 45 WE R PR T B R R W]
AE % B9 B 05 E AT RE A R0 A0 i
35> T 18 45 T BE 3% 5% S A4 AR 2

H &/
B



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

Before 1 April 2018

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses arising
from the inability of its customers to make the required payments.
The Group makes its estimates based on the ageing of its trade
receivable balances, customers’ creditworthiness, and historical
write-off experience. If the financial condition of its customers was
to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be higher
than expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of
making the allowance and its future results would be affected.

From I April 2018

The provision rate of receivables is made based on assessment
of their recoverability and ageing analysis of the receivables as
well as other quantitative and qualitative information and on
management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customers’ actual
default in the future. Information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.
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S.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the media content distribution segment distributes media
content including animation series, variety shows, drama
series, animated and live-action feature films and other video
content, which are licensed from third party media content
licensors, to customers; and

(b) the brand licensing segment either (i) obtains various rights
to use third-party owned brands, which include certain
merchandising rights, location-based entertainment rights and
promotion rights, and sub-licenses the use of these brands to
customers; or (ii) acts as an agent for the brand licensors.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that interest income and unallocated gains,
depreciation and other corporate and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment, cash and
cash equivalents, balances with related parties, tax recoverable and
corporate and other unallocated assets as these assets are managed
on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude an amount due to a shareholder,
dividend payables, tax payable, corporate and other unallocated
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION S.

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019

REDTHBER @

BZ2019F38318 L FEE

Media
content Brand
distribution licensing Total
HEARET m R “ 5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEx FHET
Segment revenue: o
Sales to external customers ] SR &5 (1) 424,558 50,964 475,522
Segment results DEREE 141,964 6,342 148,306
Reconciliation: HHE -
Interest income and unallocated FLE A B K 4y Bt i £
gains 4,641
Depreciation nE (1,304)
Other corporate and unallocated HoAth A 3 2 R 43 e BH 52
expenses (33,384)
Profit before tax R Ao i i A1) 118,259
Segment assets D EEE 232,815 64,922 297,737
Reconciliation: HHR -
Corporate and other unallocated 4 35 e HAth R 43 it B A
assets 185,389
Total assets EE e 483,126
Segment liabilities PHEE 129,556 56,373 185,929
Reconciliation: HhR -
Corporate and other unallocated A 3 B HoAth R 43 i B
liabilities 28,430
Total liabilities A R 214,359
Other segment information: Hih 2 BER :
Amortisation of intangible assets USRI 3 10,936 2,272 13,208
Impairment of trade receivables E Ly M W Kk TE R (E 123 2,243 2,366
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 I MUK Y i 43 [
receivables (1,632) (39) (1,671)
Write-down of licensed rights to net  #3 # il Ja 2= v 55 81 1% {E
realisable value, net AR 3,143 765 3,908
Capital expenditure* B R B S 6,561 — 6,561
* The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets. * EAM I E L EE AR -
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BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &5 3E 8
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018

B ZE2018F3831BLLEE

Media content Brand
distribution licensing Total
WS N BT i WA Mot
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T
Segment revenue: D EB U AR
Sales to external customers ] SR &5 1) & 5 291,122 22,754 313,876
Segment results oI EE 89,326 1,723 91,049
Reconciliation: HHE -
Interest income and unallocated FILE WA B o 43 i i 4
gains 16,311
Depreciation nE (1,172)
Other corporate and unallocated HoAth A 35 J2 R 43 e BH 52
expenses (376)
Profit before tax %% B 1 v A 105,812
Segment assets DEEE 231,605 10,029 241,634
Reconciliation: HHAR -
Corporate and other unallocated 4 3 T HoAth R 43 it & 2
assets 184,419
Total assets & E A 426,053
Segment liabilities PWEE 124,154 14,705 138,859
Reconciliation: HHHR -
Corporate and other unallocated 4 3 B HoAth R 43 i B
liabilities 89,490
Total liabilities BE AR 228,349
Other segment information: HibpEpER :
Amortisation of intangible assets T i B 1,467 — 1,467
Impairment of intangible assets TV e (E 857 = 857
Impairment of trade receivables B 5y WE WSk I W AH 78 — 78
Reversal of impairment of trade & 5 JRE S T 5 ]
receivables (19) — (19)
Reversal of write-down of licensed  #% HE il Ja 2= 7] 5% 81 1% {EL
rights to net realisable value 3§ ] (1,053) — (1,053)
Capital expenditure* AR B Sl 10,584 — 10,584
& The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets. * A BH S B AT B A R o
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BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BREDHER @

(Continued)
Geographical information i 35 & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEINBEF B Yz
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Mainland China [ TA) b 362,160 244,099
United States of America (“United States”) % | EX4 B ([EE ) 38,917 15,883
Hong Kong 7k 26,034 21,820
Philippines FHE 16,035 6,033
Thailand 7% 10,251 5,904
Japan H AR 7,640 3,712
Taiwan =R 7,511 10,468
Others oAl 6,974 5,957
475,522 313,876
The revenue information above is based on the locations of bl Wi 25 & R KT BT AE 3
the customers. )
(b) Non-current assets (b) HFREEE
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THTT
Hong Kong 7k 39,860 10,615
Mainland China R T 3,991 4,572
Others HAth 4,803 3,442
48,654 18,629
The non-current asset information above is based on the E ol IR B E S R R S E
locations of the assets and excludes financial assets. TEHE S HAOE S EE -
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BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &5 3E 8

(Continued)
Information about major customers EBXTEEFEFHNEH
Revenue from external customers contributing over 10% to the 5 7 42 [H 8 £ 20194 K& 201843 A 31
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2019 and H ok 4F 5 0 4 48 45 68 M 10%09 2k B
2018 is as follows: HhER % F R Uk 4 H S A0
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET T
Customer A ZFA 156,867 88,644
Customer B 5B 116,810 113,978
Customer C EFC —* 38,190
Customer D ZFD 54,638 —t
* Less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group. % AR A% 4 [ i 25 AR BRI 10% ©
# The Group has no transactions with this customer. B 7 AR 8 B e % POl BB R AE ) o

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6. W% - Httl A Rz (GF

NET )
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers AEF R B EF SR Z 2T
is as follows: m
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’°000 HK$°000
THERT T 7T
Major product or service lines FTEEMBIRBE
Media Content Distribution Business TR 78 BT T
Distribution of licensed media content BEAT P 1L R 2 421,435 286,862
Theatrical release income TS 5 5L R WS A 3,123 4,260
424,558 291,122
Brand Licensing Business it W1 RE T
Sub-licensing of brands i LA 32,304 13,538
Provision of licensing agency services 2 I 532 A A B IR S 17,673 9,006
Sales of merchandise B B P 987 210
50,964 22,754
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2 H & 7 & &) (19 Ui %5 48 48 475,522 313,876
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6. W% - Hat AR W GH

NET (Continued) %'E ) (#%)
2019
20195
HK$°000
THET
Geographical locations B B
Media Content Distribution Business T 2 BT T
Mainland China B A b 347,824 240,679
United States S 28,204 10,175
Philippines FRE 15,844 6,018
Hong Kong it 15,749 19,720
Thailand 7% 7,793 5,861
Taiwan & & 3,785 4,614
Japan H 7% 3,777 801
Others oAt 1,582 3,254
424,558 291,122
Brand Licensing Business i W1 T T
Mainland China IR AT b 14,336 3,420
United States £ 10,713 5,708
Hong Kong i 10,285 2,100
Japan H 7 3,864 2,911
Taiwan B 3,726 5,854
Thailand S 2,458 43
Others HAth, 5,582 2,718
50,964 22,754
Total revenue from contracts with customers 5 [ % 5 & 11 Ui £ S8 %8 475,522 313,876
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6. Uz - HU A R W GF

NET (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time

TR 52 W 2 Y BF RS
A 277

i

)

2019
20194

HK$°000
FET

Media content distribution TR BT
Distribution of licensed media content BEAT IR MELLEE R 421,435 286,862
Theatrical release income 5k e TS B Wi A 3,123 4,260
Brand licensing i WA FE
Sub-licensing of brands i A 13,580 2,543
Provision of licensing agency services PR AL R AR R 55 5,951 1,013
Sales of merchandise £ 7 A 987 210
445,076 294,888
Over time A IRE ] B HE 52
Brand licensing it R 18 HE
Sub-licensing of brands i TP 18,723 10,995
Provision of licensing agency services ot AL 2 R AR R 5 11,723 7,993
30,446 18,988
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2K [ & F & &) i i 25 44 %5 475,522 313,876

A A R i (78R 20 AT AR

An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows:

2019 2018
20195 20184F

HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi T

B AR Kz (FEE)

Other income and gains, net

Bank interest income AT A B A 355 192
Management fee income from a related party 2K H — 4% B # J7 () 45 2L &
[N 4,286 12,690
Commission income from a related party AR EH — 4 B 7 A
A 96 1,230
Foreign exchange differences, net BEE 5, 2 % (15 %) — 3,347
Others HoAt 759 82
5,496 17,541
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

7. BR®BUAD R R

A S5 T I B A s R TS BR (REA)

(crediting): A& EES S
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T T
Auditor’s remuneration A% BRI 357 T 1,392 739
Cost of goods sold and other services rendered T 8 & i & B $2 41t H Ath
AR %5 B9 Bl A 234,122 155,443
Listing expenses i 19,666 —
Depreciation JreE 1,304 1,172
Amortisation of intangible assets T & 7 i 5 13,262 1,521
Minimum lease payments under operating £ FLBE 1) B KA B AR
leases 3,590 2,805
Employee benefit expenses (including 1 B 4w B % (G &
directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 5 = 47 B\ B H 357 B
(note 8)): (Fff5E8)) :
Salaries, wages, allowances and bonuses H4e o TE - BAL R
AN 58,588 31,743
Pension scheme contributions (defined BAREE B CEREAL
contribution schemes) wr#) 2,831 2,407
61,419 34,150
Foreign exchange differences, net BEE 5, 25 % (T3 %H) 293 (3,347)
Impairment of intangible assets* e TE Yl (R — 857
Impairment of trade receivables* 5 ) 1R MR T I 2,366 78
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables® & 5 JfE Ulx 3 JE J (3% [] (1,671) (19)
Write-off of trade receivables* B 5 I8 VAU T g+ 2 =
Write-off of items of property, plant and W~ BE Kk A
equipment* i 55 — 3
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of V% FEHORE 2 AT S FR IR E
licensed rights to net realisable value, net* (i sk 438 ] ) 9 4 * 3,908 (1,053)
& These amounts are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the * ZE SN G A B EFT AT AR 2

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(F&) | -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,
is as follows:

8. EENBREITHAENH
[y
M98 s Bt & 58 & r A IR A A i 55
o B R~ U A R A ] 56 383(1)
(@) > (b) ~ ()@ LA T A 7 (4 75 &
$ R 45 B ORE) BRI B8 280 K T B 6
ZERNEEFMMN

2019
2019

2018
20184F
HK$’000
RREP

HK$°000
TET

Fees il 4 — —
Other emoluments: oAt 4
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4 HAE B AE A 4,595 2,887
Performance related bonuses Bl 3R B AT B 2 fE 4T 9,493 597
Pension scheme contributions BB (F B
(defined contribution schemes) ahE) 102 84
14,190 3,568
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BMYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during AT ST R AT E S AR N

the year were as follows:

W

2019 2018

20195 20184F

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda A+ — =
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson GRS A — —
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP BRI e A CORF 1) — —

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2018: Nil).

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 29
October 2018 with effective from 22 April 2019.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors and a non-executive director
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia and Ms. Chiu Siu Fung,
Noletta received remuneration from the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group for their appointment as directors of
these subsidiaries. Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma Ching
Fung received remuneration in their capacity as directors
subsequent to their appointment as executive directors of the
Company on 29 October 2018. The remuneration of each of
these directors set out below includes those recorded in the
financial statements of the subsidiaries.

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

8. EERBREITRABNH
B )
b) RTEERFHUTES

AN o o & i A Y N - N
£ B A T Mg A R BT A
# N B %5 M A R B
B o 3R 8 5 S A KBS IE 8 S A
R20184E10 H 29 H E AT & A
N F AT B AR IS AT E S
B o T 51 4% 5 =R 3R
45 B RS s ) A iR R P ko

Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
54 28R 63
He ENER BEZBAL BATEMR )
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$000
T T T T T
2019 20194
Executive directors: HhESE:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia B /N 4 - — 2,035 3,370 42 5,447
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta HNE L+ - 1,212 2,838 42 4,092
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit Rfaft e - 787 1,960 9 2,756
Mr. Ma Ching Fung EIE&ESE — 561 1,325 9 1,895
Non-executive director: FYfrEs:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP FEBLL (KTHL) — - - - -
- 4,595 9,493 102 14,190
2018 2018
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia /N 4 — 1,925 320 42 2,287
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta #/NE LA — 962 271 42 1,281
- 2,887 597 84 3,568

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, Mr.
Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma Ching Fung were appointed as
executive directors of the Company on 29 October 2018. Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia was appointed as the chief executive
officer on 12 November 2018.

N L s N R Lt R
A 0 A e B8 I 8 5 AR R 2018
FI10H 200 AT B A N Al 1)
BATE B o M/ L LR 2018
A 12AEZRAE AT -
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director
(Continued)
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 29 October 2018. During the
year, Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP received consultancy fee
of HK$1,280,000 (2018: HK$600,000) from the Group for
provision of advisory services. Ms. Wong has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 29 April 2019.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2018:
Nil).

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2018: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group included 4 (2018:
2) directors, among which, Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma
Ching Fung were appointed on 29 October 2018. Details of the
remuneration of the five highest paid employees who are directors
(including the remuneration of Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma
Ching Fung before their appointment as executive directors of the
Company on 29 October 2018) are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration of the remaining five highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
(including the remuneration of Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma
Ching Fung prior to their appointment as executive directors of the
Company on 29 October 2018) are as follows:

8. EERBESTHRAENH

@H (%)
b) BTEERFLHTES @

A L (K74 +) it 2018
F10H 29 H T AT 5 A N Al 1Y
FHATER - RFERN > HEIR
7+ CKF#+) B st KR4t e
a7 R 5 B A< S ) i B
1,280,000 # 7T (2018 4F : 600,000
#It) - mi LB HARN AL
IR & % > AF 1 B 20194E4 H 29
HHERH AW =4 -

AR A > Nl 4 HE I R EE B )
AT ] 35 M 19 & BE (2018 4F ¢
E) o

AER > A 4 [N 4 ) HE IR S A
AT 357 BN - 1 B W 51 A A 4E
H] B i A A 42 ] RF > 8% ) ok 1E
o Bl A B (20184F ¢ &) o

9. IEEREFHNES

2 4R ) T4 i B R B R3S I 4
A (2018 4F © W 45) o AR AR AR
SeE I BB IE % %8 A iR 2018 4F 10 A 29
HEZRT - G RAEFEN AL &K
AR B 35 I RE 1 (B 5 SR AR A SE AR I
B OF #% 25 A R 20184F 10 A 29 H % %
1T By A R BUAT 25 B 22 R 3 )
A B ST RES o A 7 BE IF # E N JF
FEATBAEB MR T A & H
& B W 35 B wF 1 (B 38 SR Je Ak I
B OF #% 25 A R 20184F 10 A 29 H % %
1T 7y A R BUAT 25 B 2 /I B ) an
T

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4 B R EYAE A 2,957 3,380

Discretionary bonuses fily 155 A& AL 2,220 1,490
Pension scheme contributions (defined B R B4R R (AL e ik 3k

contribution schemes) ar#E) 40 54

5,217 4,924

- 122 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2019 Annual Report



10.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES coviess 9. A EZBESHEMES »

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid AR TR E N EESE KIEE
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is BATELN B Y B R B O B
as follows: I
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T 0
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,000%5 G 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T %1,500,000%% T 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T %2,000,000%5 G — 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001%5 7T %£2,500,000#45 7T — 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001%5 7T %3,500,000#45 7T 1 —
3 3
INCOME TAX 10. FR5 8t
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% FHAMEBROCRERNREFBELER
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong A = FE BB %S A A9 16.5% (2018 4F -
Kong during the year. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the first 16.5%) &I #2 48 ffi - # £ 201943 H 31
HK$2,000,000 of profits earned by one of the group companies Bk 4F B Hodr — [ 4 E N & i i
will be taxed at a rate of 8.25% whilst the remaining profits B a8 A 1 2,000,000 #: TT 2 8.25%7Fi,
will continue to be taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable KGR 5 R T W R B 4 A 2 16.5% %
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the RERLBL o HAth Hb [ 0 RE SR B M R
countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates. i A A ) K BT e B % A 1k RE

MBATB ARG A BLA -

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET T
Current — Hong Kong B iR — &

Charge for the year FER 12,229 11,972

Current — Elsewhere B HR — HoAth 3 [
Charge for the year FER 822 5
Deferred (note 23) R AE (B 5E23) (375) =
Total tax charge for the year AF TR B I S AR AR 12,676 11,977
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201943H31H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

10. Fr 8 & )

A reconciliation between profit before tax multiplied by the
applicable tax rate to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax
rate is as follows:

VLR F B B At 1) 5fe DL g Bt % Bl
$e A 42 T B IR BE R R B0 B E 32
A B AR

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT THTT
Profit before tax I 3t T i ) 118,259 105,812
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to e ) A 42 [0 4845 BT R %7
profits in the countries/jurisdictions 125 R i Y ) 2 A b ) R
where the Group operates w1 Bl TH 19,284 17,729
Income not subject to tax EJH B0 U A (111) (87)
Tax credit for PRC withholding tax F [ T B 1Y) B TELHE A (13,012) (5,065)
Expenses not deductible for tax Al FA A B 52 6,238 219
Tax losses utilised from previous periods % £ 31 [ € B F (19 84 I8 &5 18 (806) (1,285)
Tax losses not recognised I e R I B TH s 4R 1,020 394
Others HAth 63 72
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate %7 48 [H] B PR B K 51 B 19
FiTE & 12,676 11,977

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of HK$15,307,000 (2018: HK$14,771,000), subject to
the agreement by the relevant tax authorities, that are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. Out of which, an aggregate of HK$2,812,000
(2018: HK$4,237,000) are available indefinitely and the remaining
unrecognised tax loss will expire in around one year to ten years.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have mainly arisen in entities that have been loss-
making, and in the opinion of the directors, it is currently not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.
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11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

The dividends declared by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Controlling Shareholder prior to the Listing are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

11. R E
T R AS 2 ) BRE JE  w a fE SR
= {)EEGHX&»\;(H‘F :

2019
20195

2018
20184F
HK$’000
T 70

HK$°000
THET

Interim dividends recognised as distribution 4F [A #fE 52 £ 43 R 19 7 301 Bt B,

during the year

72,500 50,000

The dividend declared by the Company after the Listing is as
follows:

EHEAAFREIRABEWT

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT T T
Dividend proposed after the end of the o A5 R A% 2 R IR Y
reporting period: BB
Proposed final dividend — HK1.3 cents R B IR R B S
(2018: Nil) per ordinary share — R A 3L
(20184F : %) 25,896 =
The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 A E IR £2019453 H31 H IE4F
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders (the JE 1 AR 0 I B 2B R AR A R BROR (T B
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting. SR A i R R AR OR e At -

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO THE ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDER
OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2019 is based on the profit attributable to owner of
the parent of HK$105,579,000 (2018: HK$93,899,000), and the
weighted average number of our Company’s ordinary shares
of 1,494,000,000 (2018: 1,494,000,000) in issue and issuable,
comprising one share outstanding on 31 March 2019 and
capitalisation issue of 1,493,999,999 shares on 21 May 2019
as further detailed in note 24, as if the respective shares were
outstanding throughout the periods presented.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
presented for years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 as our Group
had no potentially diluted ordinary shares in issue during those
periods.

BAREEREEAEN

BRAER

12.

#H E 201943 A 31 H IE 4 W 4 %
EABMTERTARHEA NE
fili % 105,579,000 # JT (2018 4E -
93,899,000 7T ) Al A 28 7] B #547 Je w]
BEAT A AE B0 RE T 45 #01,494,000,000
JBE (2018 4F : 1,494,000,000 %) &t & -
A A B AT Meon] B AT
201943 H 31 El%é TE A ) — J%E B A
K Bt 5524 B #F 1 20194E5 H 21 H & A&
b %% 47 19 1,493,999,999 % & 43 > 4§ 4n
% S B i BT 2 3 A 3 [ 2 g
1T »

A 8 2 20194F K 201843 H 31 H 1k
AR B A 4 ) S R LV A O AU
B %47 3 W A - ﬁ&]ﬁﬂﬁnﬁlﬂ)@?%ﬁu
FA) % 25 30 FH1 A A I 2 AR 28 A1) o
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. %  BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold  fixtures and Computer Motor
properties improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
B %E
BENx  HEREE k#fk  ERRAK RE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
31 March 2019 2019534318
At31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018:  R201853A31H &
2018F471H
Cost A 11,335 884 561 1,638 1,960 16,378
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (3,497) (833) (449) (1,251) (1,960) (7,990)
Net carrying amount IR A 7,838 51 112 387 - 8,388
At 1 April 2018, net of accumulated 201844 1H »
depreciation Mk 2547 7,838 51 112 387 - 8,388
Additions KA - 9 5 460 - 604
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 26) W& IHE 2 & ([ 3k26) - - - 59 - 59
Depreciation provided for the year LR AT R R A (816) (80) (74) (334) - (1,304)
Exchange realignment .0 (343) ) ) ) - (351)
At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated 201943 A31H
depreciation il 6,679 61 88 568 - 7,396
At 31 March 2019: 2019434311 -
Cost A 10,842 957 646 2403 1,960 16,308
Accumulated depreciation 2ot E (4,163) (896) (558) (1,835) (1,960) (9,412)
Net carrying amount SR T 3 6,679 61 88 508 — 7,396
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

13. MR - BERKHE =

(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold fixtures and Computer (0
properties improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
Bl RE
BENE  HE%RE SES I F RE Azt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
31 March 2018 2018538318
At 1 April 2017: R2017E4A1H
Cost A 10,436 849 515 1,352 1,960 15,112
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (2,460) (713) (379) (980) (1,960) (6,492)
Net carrying amount HE T 3 7976 136 136 372 = 8,620
At 1 April 2017, net of accumulated ~ fA20174F4 A 1H » 1R 2
depreciation e 7,976 136 136 372 = 8,620
Additions wE — - 38 257 — 295
Depreciation provided for the year ALAE AT B AR B A (770) (90) (63) (249) — (1,172)
Write-off 6 — — 3) — — 3)
Exchange realignment B 34, % 632 5 4 7 = 048
At 31 March 2018, net of accumulated 1201853 31H > f1lk 2
depreciation g 7,838 51 112 387 - 8,388
At 31 March 2018; H201853 /31 H :
Cost A 11,335 884 561 1,638 1,960 16,378
Accumulated depreciation 2ot e (3,497) (833) (449) (1,251) (1,960) (7,990)
Net carrying amount IR A 7,838 51 112 387 — 8,388
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

14. GOODWILL 14.

[k

HK$’000
T T

At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 TA20174E4 H1H ~ 201843 H31H &

201844 H1H —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 26) e B AT 8 N ] (FfF EE26) 29,709
At 31 March 2019 JA20194E3 A31H 29,709

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to the
brand licensing cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the brand licensing cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 16.5%. The growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the brand licensing unit beyond the
five-year period is 3%, which is the same as the long term average
growth rate of the brand licensing market.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the brand
licensing cash-generating unit for 31 March 2019. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the brand licensing unit.

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonably possible changes
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based
would not cause the brand licensing cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE

Brand
Programme Computer licensing
rights software contracts

fm b 1R 1

EiEARPE  EREEA GRS
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000
T Tt T TT

31 March 2019 201953 A31H
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of  JA20184E4 H 1 H 1
accumulated amortisation N 10,072 169 — 10,241
Additions N B 6,561 — — 6,561
Acquisition of a subsidiary W A7 (B 5E26)
(note 26) — — 8,037 8,037
Amortisation provided during 5f 45 (A 4 & 51 £ 155 45
the year (10,936) (54) (2,272) (13,262)
Exchange realignment B 54, 5 8 (28) — — (28)
At 31 March 2019 JR201943 H31 H 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
At 31 March 2019 JR201943 H31 H
Cost J A 21,829 268 8,037 30,134
Accumulated amortisation BT B O (E
and impairment (16,160) (153) (2,272) (18,585)
Net carrying amount TR T 3 E 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
31 March 2018 201853 A31H
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of ~ JjR20174F4 A1 H [ 1%
accumulated amortisation NIRRT 1,812 184 — 1,996
Additions N E 10,584 39 — 10,623
Amortisation provided during 4 A # 85 5112 3 4
the year (1,467) (54) — (1,521)
Impairment provided during  4F [A] Ja {F #5 ff *
the year* (857) — — (857)
At 31 March 2018 201843 H31H 10,072 169 — 10,241
At 31 March 2018 201843 31 H
Cost A 15,359 269 — 15,628
Accumulated amortisation T8 K E
and impairment (5,287) (100) — (5,387)
Net carrying amount W TH] VR (E 10,072 169 — 10,241
* During the year ended 31 March 2018, an impairment loss of HK$857,000 * #E20184FE3H31H IEEE > HAEH
was recognised in respect of the programme rights of an animation series due KR FE A9 AT A [B] 4 AE Y o D A Y
to the decrease in the recoverable amount of the programme rights. As at 31 i B RRE Bl 5% 96k (8 165 48.857,000 %% TG © A
March 2018, the recoverable amount of the programme rights was determined 20184E3 H 31 H » & B M HE Ay AT Ui 7] 4
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projection approved by FHEANMAEEEMENR SR EHE
management. Since no future economic benefits are expected from certain A 1 (B TSR o i AT I A
programme rights of the Group, these programme rights were fully impaired o G S 45 B 2T R OHE R ARk &
during the year ended 31 March 2018. WALAR > 52 55 1 HOMORE 7 K % 20184F 3
H31H 4 ¥ B 2 8Os -
The impairment of HK$857,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement ok 1B 857,000 7T iR 47 4 18 1 2% i 52 I 51
of profit or loss and included in the “Media Content Distribution” segment. N[ B Ry 28 BT A o
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

16. LICENSED ASSETS

16. REEE

2019 2018

20195 20184F

HK$’000 HK$°000

THET TH#T

Licensed rights = 139,407 96,503
Prepayments for licensed rights T HETE AT 2R 3,416 11,321
142,823 107,824

Licensed assets represent payments to licensors in connection with
cost to obtain media content distribution rights and brand licensing
rights over a definitive licensing period. These licensed assets are
held to generate revenue in the ordinary course of the Group’s
businesses.

HEE S R AE T S A B R
il 45 HEE S0 T A L R UK A R AT R I
i R 5 HE B EKIE o AN 4R B RE A R SR
e Y NEIGE SR

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. E 5 EIRFIE

2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&T F# T

Trade receivables & 5y ME S KA
Billed receivables £ B 22 RE Ui IR 109,180 120,294
Unbilled receivables I B 22 R Wit B 13,181 9,445
122,361 129,739
Less: Impairment W W (11,316) (8,441)
111,045 121,298

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit.
For the Media Content Distribution Business, the payment terms
with customers are generally of two to four payments with the
first payment usually due upon the submission of the letter of
authorisation relating to the media content to the customer. The
credit periods generally range from 30 to 45 working days after the
payment milestone as specified in the underlying contracts. For
the Brand Licensing Business, the payment terms are generally
of one to two payments with the first payment usually due upon
the execution of the contracts. The credit period is generally 30
days after the payment milestone as specified in the underlying
contracts.
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continied) 17. E 5 W IE @
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 7 4 [H] R B RS 1E R Ui B RY RE Wi
receivables as overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior AE > =R B G E W9 A
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other AR o A 4E [ N0 ML 5 E Wk E
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade &5 R B A AT A7 HK HE A BB B A 5
receivables are non-interest-bearing. B - B2 BICREAFE -
An ageing analysis of the billed trade receivables (before REEH R HBEEIMFEZD
impairment) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the BH 22 5 b JRE e 3k TE (e (5 BT ) 19 R B
invoice date, is as follows: AR e
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T T
Within 30 days 30H A 4,181 10,831
31 to 60 days 31260H 3,360 68,445
61 to 90 days 61%290H 19,864 810
91 to 180 days 91%180H 25,599 14,918
181 to 360 days 1812360 H 37,238 9,190
Over 360 days 360 H 18,938 16,100
109,180 120,294
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade o S R W ok TE R (E B R 1A A
receivables are as follows: BT
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT T T
At beginning of year R AEH) 8,441 8,371
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 (note 2.3) JRE FH) 7 s U A5 i o 24 1)
o5t B (K 5E2.3) 2,254 —
As adjusted £ R K 10,695 8,371
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) . e 5 (B A 18 (it 587 2,366 78
Impairment losses reversed (note 7) B3 v e (E s 18 (B 5E7) (1,671) (19)
Amount written off as uncollectible AS AT U E] Y EL S 2k H (62) =
Exchange realignment [ifE 5, 3 4 12) 11
11,316 8,441
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31 March 2019
201943H31H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
March 2019

From 1 April 2018, the Group has applied the simplified approach
to providing allowance for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, the trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. ECLs are estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
general economic conditions. During the year, the expected loss
rates for certain customers that are credit-impaired are assessed
specifically by management. For other trade receivables aged more
than one year past due but not credit-impaired, management has
not observed objective evidence of financial difficulties of the
debtors and has been taking credit risk mitigating measures.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 using a
provision matrix:

17. E 3 EWFEE»
BZE2019F3A831BLFEFB
B EERFEIFHIE T W E
H20184E4 A1 H#E > AEEHC EH
T8 55 15 B 75 s 5 i 45 B HI 28 95 5T
B TE S B s T IR A sx
B 25 3wl 2 5B & ) B Wig K TE )
PR TE I SR B - Al EE
WfEEREE > 8% BRGKIED RE
L= 5 B0 R B R B S B B B A -
HU G EERLBAERGSERLH
sk > WARBEEE A AR E X
— AL TR VLA R o R
FREWERFWHEBERRHE
P2 AF 0 AE BEAN o AR % a A R
— A AE RS SRR E N H A E 5 Rk
RVET o HE B R B KBS
BHEURER NG MBI 3 e F
BUAE 6 B 4% R 4 e -

DA R #51) A BE A< 42 B {5 P 438 4
MR 20194E3 A 31 H & 5 JE i X IE
B 15 B8 B 1Y B R

Expected Gross
credit carrying
loss rate amount Impairment
EH
FEBER REAE 1B
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T
Credit-impaired receivables 15 2 9 (8 R i 30 IH 100% 10,553 10,553
Other trade receivables aged: HoAth 2 ) e U ik TE R %
Current and within one year past R HA T 61 B0 — 4E DA A
due 0.6% 111,620 717
More than one year past due 7 1 8 ol — 4 24.5% 188 46
122,361 11,316
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
March 2018

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables,
which was measured based on incurred credit losses under
HKAS 39, as at 31 March 2018 was a provision for individually
and collectively impaired trade receivables of HK$8,441,000
with a carrying amount before provision of HK$8,441,000. The
individually impaired trade receivables as at 31 March 2018 related
to customers that were in financial difficulties and none or only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

The ageing analysis of the billed trade receivables, as at 31 March
2018 that were not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired under HKAS 39, based on the terms of the underlying
agreements, is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

17. E 3 EWFEw

BZE2018F3H31BLFERHA
S ERE3IFEE T HWRE
H20184E3 H31H » 5 A Lt & 5 1
Wi 3 T Y (L 435 00 1 I R A ek (.
& Ty E Wi 3K T % 6 8,441,000 #5 T (R
1] % &H £ 8,441,000 1) T3 5 A & itk
£ 51 ME I 55 30 8% = A 10 5 B s B R
B o jR20184E3 A 31 H H M FIl Wi (5 &
SEW KA M BN EREE AR
T B i 3K JE S ] i ) B S 43 AT
Wi fa] o

R B A B 15 ok 4 A > iR 20184F3 H 31
B R 58 & ik 6 5 HI 53958 00 IF A
Al Bk EE B AR A A B B 2 )
Wi B TE B BR AT AR

2018

20184F

HK$°000

T T

Neither past due nor impaired 40 7 1] S5 74,993
Less than 3 months past due i 1 0 iR 3418 15,605
3 to 6 months past due 7 W13 2 o A 1,415
7 to 12 months past due A7 E 1218 A 10,363
Over 12 months past due 0 31 6 A 1 248 A 9,477
111,853

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a number of diversified customers including certain large
customers with good track record with the Group for whom there
was no recent history of default and no significant changes in the
credit risk.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that had a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
were of the opinion that no provision for impairment under HKAS
39 was necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

R 26 400 B9 (L 1) 5 B R ek T I
LARBEF > 615550 A 4
ARGEHNRER %N
K ALk BLE B R B R -

7 0 15 37 48 36 {E 2 B2 5 M W IR
WREAEEA RIFESNELF
oo MRugi AR > hifEEER
7 48 TR T L & 8R4 A A T
EROCE S AR F)EE SRR T HAR
1A W o wt YR U B39 9% a4 5 A R
P 3ol (B B A -
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31 March 2019
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18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

18. FENME HERHME

RECEIVABLES =
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Prepayments T8 A5 K E 9,315 1,472
Deposits ¥4 678 517
Other receivables At R i 3R TE 111 1,096
10,104 3,085

Less: portion classified under non-current B MR IR A B E A B
assets % (129) (350)

Portion classified under current assets R 95 U ) & A S 4y 9,975 2,735

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to deposits
and receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

B R 8RAT 4 B

I A T R - N AN o
7t 5 R 1Y <5 Al B AT ) R 4 K A
Bk I % B MOEWGRIE A B -

19. BERBEEEY

2019 2018
20195 20184F

HK$°000 HK$°000
Fi Tt

163,754 169,067

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group’s PRC operation denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$2,021,000 (2018: HK$455,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.
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20. TRADE PAYABLES

20. EZENSRIE

2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T 0

Trade payables B 5 REAT 3K IA
Unbilled N 88,730 50,961
Billed £ BH 2 36,849 28,788
125,579 79,749

An ageing analysis of the billed trade payables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AR OR > R H MR R
5 BEAT BRI B R - AT AT

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET T o0

Within 1 month —1fEH KN 10,073 14,506
1 to 3 months — 2 ={i H 5,292 7,935
More than 3 months R = H 21,484 6,347
36,849 28,788

The trade payables primarily consist of minimum guarantee
payables and royalty payables to licensors which are unsecured
and non-interest-bearing. For the minimum guarantee payments to
the licensors, the payment terms and the due dates are specified in
the relevant contracts and are usually settled by instalments at the
early stage of the relevant licensing periods. For royalty payable
which exceeds the minimum guarantee, the amounts are due when
the Group submits the royalty reports to the licensors which is
subsequent to the collection of the corresponding trade receivables
from the licensees.

The unbilled trade payables relate to amounts that are unbilled
payables to licensors which are calculated based on the royalty
rates as stipulated in the respective licensing contracts.

B T ME A BRI T R A E A A HE Oy
1 b A PR 4 K M A RRBE - 3 /% d
R R A FH o Bt S A 4 HE 7 B AR
MBS = - MG & & 9 AT
Pk R B B 3 8 R AR B 45 HE
0o T R o L A IR IR &
i B AT RROBE T & o A B #R T R AR 4R
P i) 4 452 HE D7 ACTBOAR B B ) R A K
JELAR o) $5HE 7 52 52 BB ik o5 TR 2 40

R B 52 B A o IR B 4% A% S HE A
A T K BB A w1 R B SR AT
ZHETT K EA B
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21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21.

Bt ERAREENFIE

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T T T

Accruals JE =t 2 ) 31,114 4,862
Other payables At A5 0B 25,934 28,447
57,048 33,309

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term

of three months.

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

22,

Contract liabilities include (i) advance payments received from
customers for the Group to deliver the media content or render
brand licensing services; and (ii) unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term brand sub-
licensing contracts as at the end of the year. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue upon the Group satisfies its performance
obligations under the relevant contracts.

Aty A BOE 2 R EEHE RT3 5
=MA -

BHNERE

aR A MBS R ERORKRAE T
7 S5 ) 5 ASF I B R A AR 4 o R A
HE MR BS 0 BGK 5 JeGi) B 1 52 1 A% R
S0 it L 2 M S A6 4 BN A 2 A0
JBH FAT o & # B R A 5 BAR IR
A B & A 2 CH B A AR R TR
&

2019 2018

20194 20184F

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FH&T T T

Media Content Distribution Business TEE B TR 25 BE AT 2E S 3,181 19,396
Brand Licensing Business i WL HE ZE S 26,892 6,469
30,073 25,865
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

2. EHNEBEw
ERGHABBEH T

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHERT T#IT

At the beginning of the year ) 25,865 11,270
Additions NE 422,818 321,464

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 26) e B — ] Bf ) 2 =)

(Bt 5E26) 38,793 —
Revenue recognised during the year AN 2 B R Y i AR (457,403) (306,869)
At the end of the year AR 30,073 25,865

The increase in contract liabilities was mainly attributed to increase

=
in advance payments received from customers and the acquisition EQIER:

of MAIL.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as follows:

R R R & F AT

0 T 2 ) -

A3 WEE B I 40 BT (RSB AT B 4
FIBAT) 1 2 5 (s 1 F -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T o0
Within one year —4E N 22,818 24,514
More than one year o — A 7,255 1,351
30,073 25,865
Revenue recognised from: DA & T e R A I A

Amounts included in contract liabilities FEHEIAGHAEN S

at the beginning of the year 24,514 9,903
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23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018

23. EEERIEE ST

A20174E4 H1H ~ 20184E3 H31H K&

Fair value
adjustment
arising from
acquisition of a

business
WMBEKEE
WATEBE
HK$’000
T

201844 H1H —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 26) Wiz e — [ BfF g 2 T (B E26) 1,326
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of 4F [A 5t A %% & 18 25 25 10 78 2E £ T
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (FftEE10) (375)
At 31 March 2019 A20194E3 H31H 951

24. ISSUED CAPITAL

24. B BITRA

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$°000
Fi# 7 Tt
Authorised: BIE ¢
38,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 38,000,000/ %5 % 1 {5
0.01# 7T Y 3 7 fik 380 —
Issued and fully paid: AT R -
1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 1B TH {B0.011 7 T 14 385 4 ik — =
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24. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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2019%3H31H

24. BEITRA @

AU T 5 S BB AT IR 2 5 M
T

Share
capital

Number of
shares

[a g

LIS
HK$°000

T# T

Authorised: B

38,000,000 ordinary shares of JA20184E10H29H (FE i w57

HK$0.01 each on 29 October HH#) %201943H31H %

2018 (date of incorporation) 38,000,000 % 45 A% I {E0.01

and 31 March 2019 T T B 7 ik (a) 38,000,000 380
Increase of 4,962,000,000 201944 H 12 H #40

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 4,962,000,000/8% %5 /1% i {H

each on 12 April 2019 0.01 7 7T 1) 5 48 i (b)  4,962,000,000 49,620
At 21 May 2019 JR20194E5 21 H 5,000,000,000 50,000

Issued and fully paid: OB T AR -

Issuance of 1 ordinary share of 2018410 H29 H (5 5 sz

HK$0.01 on 29 October 2018 HHA) &%20194:3 H31 H 847

(date of incorporation) and 31 1B T {E0.01 75 T 1Y X 48 %

March 2019 (a) 1 —
Capitalisation issue of 201945 H21 H &AL 847

1,493,999,999 ordinary shares 1,493,999,999 % &5 % 1 {H

of HK$0.01 each on 21 May 0.01 7 7T 1) 5 48 i

2019 ()  1,493,999,999 14,940
Issuance of 498,000,000 A20194E5 H21 H #47

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 498,000,000 5% % i I E0.01

each on 21 May 2019 T TT 1Y 3 A ik (d) 498,000,000 4,980
At 21 May 2019 JA20194E5 A 21 H 1,992,000,000 19,920
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24. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) On 29 October 2018, the Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands with authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. Upon
incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was issued and allotted by the
Company at par to its then shareholder.

(b) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company
passed on 12 April 2019, the authorised share capital of the Company
increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of a par value of
HK$0.01 each to HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares of a par
value of HK$0.01 each, by the creation of an additional 4,962,000,000 shares
with a par value of HK$0.01 each. The 4,962,000,000 new shares shall rank
pari passu in all respects with the existing issued shares of the Company.

(c) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company
passed on 12 April 2019 and the minutes of the committee of the Board on
17 May 2019, 1,493,999,999 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted
and issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation from the
share premium account to the holders of shares whose names appeared on the
register of members of the Company at the close of business on 20 May 2019.
This allotment and capitalisation issue were conditional on the share premium
account being credited as a result of the issue of new shares to the public in
connection with the Company’s initial public offering as detailed in note (d)
below.

(d) In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, 498,000,000
ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of
HK$0.45 per share for a total cash consideration, before share issue expenses,
of approximately HK$224,100,000. Dealing in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange commenced on 21 May 2019.
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24. EBITRA )

W

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

&

2

2018410 H 29 H » 4% 48 W ik B & B & 5
T BT B 4 o A BRA T o 0k R AR B
380,000 % T > 43 £ 38,000,000 A% 45 % T
{E0.013%5 JC 14 3% 78 AL o % & k57 B
AN ) 1 T (E 0.01 #5 T 1 5 2 A 4%
T B35 A7 % e % T 5 IR B R -

MR IE20194E4 A 12 H 3 38 (19 A 28 7 i —
[ = TR SR NY/NIEI R B e
4,962,000,000 fi% 45 A% 1 {8 0.01 U5 JC HY ik
By o % 2 E B AR 380,000 #s I (4 £
38,000,000 A% 45 % T {E 0.01 %5 I /) i’ 4y)
a2 50,000,000 # 7T (4 £ 5,000,000,000
R 4 B O 0.01 s ot 1 B ) o #Z
4,962,000,000 % 5 [ 13 7 Bir A 75 1l B A%
ANFIBA BTG = A W T o

4201944 A 12 B %8 & 1 A A & o —
TSR 2 5 T P R %R e 20194F5 H 17 H 1Y
HEGZBETORAK > AAFEMA
% B 3 Yi A AR 438 AR & AS 5 [ 20194FE5 A
20 H # 2 s W] &5 R IRp 44 81 AR 8 W) i R
2 0 B 0 R AN T T B K B AT
1,493,999,999 % 4 % T {E10.01 W5 JG 1Y 3% 78
B (A BRS £ 4002 ) o & Wi 35 e E A AL
AT ZE o8 B s B R R ST H RE() BT
AR PR AR N ) R A B S R R
110 R A AT Wk 4% 7 W R -

587 ZNUNCIN=RY@/N R R NN E
Ji0.45 #s TG 19 5 1% %% 1T 498,000,000 B 45
J% T {H.0.01 %5 I ) 34 48 A > 48 3 4 RE
#) £5224,100,000 # 7T (R w51 K B 13 8 47
B 32) o A\ w3 i 20194F5 H 21 H B
WWTEB ST E & -



25.

26.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 71 of the financial
statements.

(a) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents reserve arising from the
Reorganisation and capital contribution from the Controlling
Shareholder arising from the acquisition of Medialink
Animation International Limited (note 26).

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly represents the difference between the
acquisition of additional equity interest in a subsidiary from
the non-controlling shareholder and the consideration paid.

(b)

(¢) Exchange fluctuation reserve
Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign currency
exchange differences arising from the translation of the

financial statements of foreign operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 27 August 2018, the Controlling Shareholder entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, an
executive director of the Company and a sister of the Controlling
Shareholder, to acquire a 50% equity interest in MAIL for a cash
consideration of HK$20,000,000 and the transaction was completed
on the same date. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand the Group’s brand licensing business. MAIL
was jointly controlled by the Controlling Shareholder and Ms.
Chiu Siu Fung Noletta before the completion of the transaction.
Immediately after the acquisition, MAIL was controlled by the
Controlling Shareholder and became part of the Group pursuant to
the Reorganisation.
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26.

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

it 8

7 S T 1 A 4 FE 8B 4 E 1 o
G N H B ) B R S TR
AR R RDI -

(a) EXfEE
Aol A e AR N R R A
Wi B 4 TR B (B P A R 4 &l
(B 5E26) 1 7 & BT 28 2E 1 f A

H o % 18

A % B 1 O 4 BBOR
Wi 5 Y JA 2 ) B A A B A
REZE% -

(b)

HMNEE F B B 1

A1 EE 3 B foft # £ 49 S 4 B 7 0
P 75 R AR RO A T A T I S
AL -

XBe6t

20184F8 H 27 H > 4 B M 3R Bl it /)N JeiL
7 (R A A BUAT B e R
MM k) 5T 7 B E ek > ABL S RE
20,000,000 5 7 i 1§ ¥ B = (B B )
HI50% I HE > 28 5 A R B 58 A - w% Uk
0 T A A T R R AN AR [ O R AR ME 2
TS WS 1) — R 4Y o A3 5 S8 AT >
o R B (I R ) AR A R B /D
Bl 2 - [ o BXRE R IR AR
o IR B = (B P R A
S PR AL T R 2 A 4R A — EB A e

(¢
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26. BUSINESS COMBINATION (conined) 26. X% & OF
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MAIL as Fo R By (B R A Wi B A0 ]k
at the date of acquisition were as follows: AEREKEEZ A FENT -
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
WiE & R
WA FE
Notes HK$°000
Bt 5 THIT
Property, plant and equipment LB N & 13 59
Intangible assets Y & 15 8,037
Licensed assets R 12,358
Trade receivables B 5 e R A 37,269
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEAT FRIE ~ e 4 B H At RE Wi B 718
Due from related parties JRE Wiz B8 5 K I 5,456
Tax recoverable CIEqEREREE 18
Cash and cash equivalents Ba R B &5 EY 31,658
Trade payables B 5 A 3K IA (27,630)
Accruals and other payables JRE 5t 2 ) % At JRE A R IE (3,798)
Contract liabilities HFHIAME 22 (38,793)
Due to related parties JRE A I8 5 R O (13,735)
Deferred tax liabilities IR A B TH B R 23 (1,326)
10,291
Goodwill on acquisition WA B A T R 14 29,709
40,000
Satisfied by: PLTR 3 AT
Cash paid by the Controlling Shareholder 2 5 8 B S A 1 B 4 20,000
Fair value of the 50% equity interest in MAIL % [ J B 14 & 19 #5 R 8 =5 (1 F%)
contributed by the Controlling Shareholder 50% B HE 1) 2> ~F-{H 20,000
Deemed contribution from the Controlling L Ay 28 PR I R
Shareholder 40,000
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26. BUSINESS COMBINATION (coninied) 26. ¥ & BF
The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables A B H O B S R 0 sk T R H At
as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$37,269,000 and JRE Wi K I 2 4 P B 43 Al A% 37,269,000
HK$84,000, respectively. The amount of the contractual cash flows I M 84,0009 U o A B &= R
at the acquisition date is expected to be collectible. W W T Y e B A TR AT i [ 3R

I8 o

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$99,000 for this A A5 ] 5 A% i B E AR 22 5 AR 99,000
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are T o ZHELH MAC IR
included in other expenses in the consolidated statement of profit 3w &5 A 1R A 3R 0 AR B S -
or loss.
As a result of this business combination, goodwill of FRERE % > 29,709,000 % JC P4
HK$29,709,000 was recorded in the Group’s consolidated BE G AAREE K55G MEIR I -
statement of financial position. The goodwill arising from the B2 W T R A Y P K (HR BRI
acquisition pertains, but is not limited, to the expected synergies TE A B 5% I EE A 1 R 2L o
arising from the acquisition.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a A B W i — [ BB S A B B R
subsidiary is as follows: ST

HK$°000
T IT

Cash and bank balances acquired and inflow of CES B & MBITE R LT AKA
cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows % & i B 5 £ i & 10 5 4 K&

from investing activities Bl & S5 E W A 31,658
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in FH AR B &S TE B B A
cash outflows from operating activities W B8 58 B i A (99)
31,559
Since the acquisition, MAIL contributed HK$25,912,000 to the H % W e > 2 £ 20194E3 H 31 H 1k
Group’s revenue and HK$7,194,000 to the consolidated profit for EE o AR E = (B A A E E Ik
the year ended 31 March 2019. % B 8k 25,912,000 % 5T > 3 £ &% G %

FI E 8k 7,194,000%5 7T ©

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the A BF N AE ) AT > A £E B4R R
revenue and the consolidated profit of the Group for the year would I %5 Ko 454 ks R I 43 Fl By 493,374,000
have been HK$493,374,000 and HK$106,056,000, respectively. e 9T 5 106,056,000 7T ©
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27. REBREHRERKE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group acquired
the programme rights of an animation series totalling
HK$10,584,000 which was settled during the year ended 31
March 2019.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details the cash flows and non-cash changes
in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities.
Except as disclosed below, there were no non-cash changes
in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities.

(a FEHFRERS
HE20184FE3H31H IL4EE » A
EEGE—-E8HRWEE R
HE - H%E 510,584,000 7T > A
B 4 %8 B E 2019463 A 31 H 1k
R -

(b)) BMETHELENEBEE

RS A S B E A AR
B A R B R B
B o BR T SCHT K ER A A > MR
il 3 ) A A A AR ALY
B e o

Amount due to Dividend
a shareholder payables
BN —A
RERMRE EARE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T o0 T4 o0
At 1 April 2017 201744 H1H 83,473 3,250
Changes from financing cash flows MG S &R EEE) (48,995) —
Dividend declared EE IR E — 50,000
Foreign exchange movement A1 E % ) (D) —
At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018  R20184E3H31 H &
201844 A 1H 34,477 53,250
Changes from financing cash flows BB S EEH (34,475) (125,750)
Dividend declared B E R B — 72,500
Foreign exchange movement A1 HEE 5% ) (2) —
At 31 March 2019 A20194E3 H31H — —
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28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 28. WEHEAIE
The Group leases certain of its offices, warehouses and carparks AREFBRELSHEZHEME AT
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are WA BERERES - YENHE
negotiated for terms ranging from 6 months to 26 months. BB E R R E B Foffl H 2261
H o
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease JR20194E3 H31 H » 7S 45 B MR 8 K 0]
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as Tes 28 & A & A T 5 B 2R R
follows: A& AR SR HAR BT
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T IT
Within one year — R 816 2,459
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BB A
(15 H E M) 167 333
983 2,792
29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. BEARRS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) BReZEMBEMEFLLNAZ S K
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the &EER AN > NAE R - AR £E [E) BB
following material transactions with related parties during BT AL TERRLS
the year:

2019 2018
20194 20184F

HK$°000 HKS$’000
FHT T 7T

Medialink Animation International ¥ F ) = (& %)

Limited*: A PR F] *
Management fee income B LA 6)) 4,286 12,690
Commission income LEXION (ii) 96 1,230
e MAIL was a related company of the Group which was jointly * o HR 2 (F R A A 2 E] Y B
controlled by the Controlling Shareholder and Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, O] s N E A A R B A )N Bl &
Noletta, an executive director of the Company and a sister of the 4 (B AR N B AT E S R P
Controlling Shareholder. On 27 August 2018, MAIL became a wholly- B M ) SR ) o A 20184F 8
owned subsidiary of the Group as part of the Reorganisation and its H27H - fEREHK — &5 >
results were consolidated to the Group thereafter. ) (B S ) B A A 4E [ i 2
WP I 28 > 2 A% HL SE A B A 4
aHARR -
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) (Continued)
Notes:

@) The management fee income was related to the corporate and business
support services rendered by the Group to the related company and
was charged on terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties.

(ii) The commission income was related to the agency support services
rendered by the Group to the related company and was charged on
terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties.

In addition, on 27 June 2018, the Group acquired a 15%
equity interest in Whateversmiles Limited from Ms. Chiu
Siu Fung, Noletta, thereby increasing its ownership interest
from 85% to 100%, for a cash consideration of HK$15. The
consideration was determined with reference to the nominal
value of the issued share capital of Whateversmiles Limited.

Whateversmiles Limited is an investment holding company
which owns a 100% equity interest in Whateversmiles # 2
& 4, a company established in Japan primarily involved in
the investment in media content production. The carrying
amount of the non-controlling interests in Whateversmiles
Limited at the date of acquisition was approximately
HK$85,000. The Group recognised a credit to the non-
controlling interests of approximately HK$85,000 and a debit
to equity attributable to owner of the parent of approximately
HK$85,000.
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2. BEHFRZ @

(a)

(%)

WRE :

() RO B A AR ) ) BN R
R AT KB X RRE A
Bl > Sl £ AR B R &9 07 2 [ 3L 6] 1
E B AR 2 -

(i) < i A BELAR AR [ i ] 2 % D 4
PER AR S 5% MBS A B > 3l 45 AR
B AT 49 77 2 [ 3 IR 16 5 9 A i
# .

I b A 2018 £ 6 H 27 H -
AL E B /DR L -k s
Whateversmiles LimitedZ 15%##
£ o WO H A BE B 85%i =
100% - B & A 25 15 % 7T -
R AE J5 % 2 % Whateversmiles
Limited & ZE47 A 1Y W] (B 72 o

Whateversmiles Limited £
—HMBEEERAA A
Whateversmilestf = €& 4t (— H
W HEARBSL AT EBERES
WG N AERAE) 2R -
W B H > Whateversmiles
Limited ) FF $5 f HE 42 /9 B 1 (E
£ 185,000 7T o 7 £ [ 1 53 OF
PE T HE 25 A AR %9/85,000 %5 6 &
BEON R A N RE A6 4 25 41 BR 40
85,0007 JC °



29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:
The balances with related parties and a shareholder are non-
trade related, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

Due from related parties

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

29. BERARZ )
(b)  EHLBAH Y oA (R A R

By MR AR Ak 5 M
i N N W NN S
KRB o

FE Uk BEE 75 FE

2019
20194

2018
20184F
HK$’000
T 0

HK$°000
FRET

Medialink Animation International Limited ¥ FF &)= (B F%)

HIRA A — 4,632
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta it /N B A+ — 6438
— 5,280

Due to a shareholder

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia it /)N FHE L -

BN —ERRME

2019
20194

2018
20184F
HK$’000
T30

HK$°000
FET

— 34,477

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in note 8 to

(c) AL EZAEMA B KME

AEEEEEHABNME (&
5 B4 B R B SR8 B R 1

the financial statements, is as follows: M 4) R
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$°000 HK$°000
Fi8 7 Tt e
Short term employee benefits 55 1R B 48 Al 22,826 10,406
Post-employment benefits Tl I 1% A A 174 165

Total compensation paid to key REX:-SIPN=EZ i}

management personnel P 4 4 %8 23,000 10,571
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 30. RERETHEMT R
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial A HRCEBAOR - & Bl TR BN MR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: HAEA T :
Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets at Loans and
amortised cost receivables
EN L £794
TREE P& W =R I8
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTET Tt
Trade receivables & 5 e K TH 111,045 121,298
Financial assets included in prepayments, I AFEAT#KIE ~ & & K&
deposits and other receivables L At R oA 5 T ) 4 L 789 1,613
Due from related parties JRE Wi B 2 7 R T — 5,280
Cash and cash equivalents Ba KB EEEY 163,754 169,067
275,588 297,258
Financial liabilities TRAE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BREBERATENESRAE

2019 2018

20196 20184F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET T o0

Trade payables & 5 HEAT 7K IE 125,579 79,749
Financial liabilities included in accruals A RERT 2 ) S H At R A 3k IH

and other payables 14 4 B 1 15,134 14,183

Due to a shareholder R ASF 13 PR IE — 34,477

140,713 128,409
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31.

32.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, the current portion of financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in accruals and other payables and an amount
due to a shareholder approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments or the effect of
discounting is not material.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents and an amount due to a shareholder. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the unit’s functional currencies. The
majority of the Group’s foreign currency purchase transactions
are denominated in US$. On the other hand, the sales and
disbursements are mainly denominated in US$, RMB, HK$ and
JPY. As HKS is pegged to USS$, the directors of the Company
anticipate that there will be no significant movements in the USD/
HKS$ exchange rates and the exposure on US$ will not be material.

The Group’s risk management principle with regard to its foreign
currency denominated monetary assets, liabilities, commitments,
and cash flows is to match as far as possible the values of such
assets and cash flows against similarly denominated liabilities and
cash flows. Decisions on either holding net short or long positions
in foreign currency denominated monetary assets or liabilities are
taken on a case-by-case basis and by taking into consideration the
amount and duration of the exposure, market volatility, economic
trends and requirements of the business.
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SMIAWAFERAT
BR 5

EHECFAM > B AR T AR
9 2 0 8 o R B B R K
He kB eEFEHY - E5BWGEOE -
FEATE AT B % KR il R K
TEL B 4 O A A B S - R M B
7R~ H o BB AOH - FEARE
a2 T K Al R A RO B 4 AR
DA B2 AR B R 38K T 2 S i B iR T
EREARA -

TREREEBRERBE

AL EE M THAHI SR
B4 S E Y R A R AR - % %
S TR E & A A% E K
REHE o AL A S H A
EERAM Glng HA8ERE
A B 5 B WSO IE B B 5 A A

A AR M TR AR 2R R
SR B~ A5 B R B & O B B 4
B o TE o & A B L T A A% JH R
B B B - AR AR o

o0 5 12 B

AR ) T 52 5y R LB o 5% S L
B = o | B R B A7 LA a% B 7 2h fiE
BWUSANERETERN - A%LH
A K 4 11 4R B 28 5 LA SR T RHE
H—Ji T S A EE KT
NR B~ ot & H EFHE o R
TG B SR T 8 AR F] B ORL R
TS ETERAGAERES > H
&I a R A E K -

AEEARIIEFEHEREE &
i~ R K B Ja R B
U AEMBEFHEN AR SR E
HEBENEAREE MREREN
fEME - FRAINEFHEE R EE SR
B IR B B I A G DUE R E -
3 K8 2% 58w iy B < R K ]~ T 8
BB RE B K S B L E T

JE ©
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in RMB and
JPY exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax.

31 March 2019 201953 A31H

If HKS weakens against RMB RTINS S
If HKS strengthens against RMB 1% 5 T 5o A R ¥ THE
If HK$ weakens against JPY v oo 5 H R 2 1
If HKS strengthens against JPY v oo 5 H B THE
31 March 2018 201853 A31H

If HKS weakens against RMB RTINS S
If HKS strengthens against RMB 1% 5 T 5o A R ¥ THE
If HK$ weakens against JPY v oo 5 H R 2 1
If HKS strengthens against JPY v oo 5 H B THE
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit
risk as 19% (2018: 38%) and 64% (2018: 84%) of the Group’s trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five
largest debtors, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 17 to
the financial statements.
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TREMRESHREBR > BEZIA
SO 5 WA £ R - A S O 0 IR B
IR RE SN S E = - e ey
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Increase/
(decrease) in
Change in  profit before

exchange rate tax
BR Bt Al 2

EX#5 Em Ofd)
HK$°000

TH#IT

5% 791
5% (791)

5% 528
5% (528)

5% 1,576
5% (1,576)
5% (102)

5% 102

=&k

A 45 [ SR RR RT K A R B AR =
TN LI Ty ARG AR B BUR
P A 15 1% {5 B RS SC 5 1 &R R
A5 B AR P o LA > M EIA
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March
2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March 2019. The amounts presented are
gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month
ECLs

12E A
FEER

Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

R.epEAREEEERBKEK

(41
FEERKB @
R2019%3531 A &R = /E B #E R
F X E R

T 2R A A 4R N B BUR 8 4
ZEEEE LR fEERRE > £
AR 48 2 10 Rl R E (R IE A EZE
55 H R b B R AS 5% T AF B AT BUAS Y
HoAh & k) > PL KA 20194E3 A 31 H
2R B B B o A BOEE S &
EE 2 IR EE -

Lifetime ECLs

2HRBEERR
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Approach Total
F-Ke H-KR $=ER SBLrE st
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000

T T T T T

Trade receivables B 5 IENUHOR =
Financial assets included in FEABAT R - 8 K

prepayments, deposits and other A E A ZR R Y

receivables SHERE 789
Cash and cash equivalents B RBEEEY 163,754

— — 122,361 122,361

= — — 789
= = — 163,754

164,543

— — 122,361 286,904

Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and amounts due
from related parties, arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

201843531 H 1R = JE f 58
AREHEMEMEE (BIEHE LH
SEEY - FEATMKEAE - e R
S At R i T Y 4 O B E i B
Oy EE) 15 SRR A 58 5
W > T A e JEU B S R % T H MR
T H °

201965 BHEMARAT 151 -



Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

R.eEABREEEERBKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms by
considering the maturity of its financial assets and liabilities and
projected cash flows.

The following tables show the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments.

()

REBESE R
AEHRNBEELRBREEHLEME
KA E A DR TE B R
BoMRATEESEE G RE

TR BUR R A A R A B RH > A
B2 7S S A 99 OR BY A AR Y
HEVL -

Less than

On demand
BER

HK$’000
T IT

1 year
DPR—F
HK$’000

T#IT

Total
et
HK$°000
T

31 March 2019 201963H31H
Trade payables B 5 WA FOE — 125,579 125,579
Financial liabilities included in AT A BT 2 B H At
accruals and other payables JRE A R TEL ) 4 T B £ — 15,134 15,134
— 140,713 140,713
31 March 2018 201853 A31H
Trade payables & 5 EAS 7K IE — 79,749 79,749
Financial liabilities included in FEAE R B HAt
accruals and other payables JRE AT K T 1Y) 4 P — 14,183 14,183
Due to a shareholder JREASH e 3R K T 34,477 — 34,477
34,477 93,932 128,409

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise the shareholder’s value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to the
shareholder, return capital to the shareholder or issue new shares.
The Group is not required to comply with any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
2019%3H31H

33. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 33. $R4&HIZE1H

On 21 May 2019, 1,992,000,000 shares of the Company were 2019 £ 5 A 21 H > & A @ W
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 1,992,000,000 Bt K& 1 it & W B &
Limited, pursuant to which 498,000,000 shares were newly Lo AERAR EHR LT Hei
issued by the Company at the offer price of HK$0.45 per share. 498,000,000 fix T3 7 22w LA & B 0.45
The gross proceeds and the estimated net proceeds amounted W 0 85 B B AT - B S AR TH AR
to approximately HK$224,100,000 and HK$185,900,000, ZH NG EE TR K TE 0 B A A&
respectively. 224,100,000 7T & 185,900,000% 7T °
34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34, X2 F 8B %k R &
OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the A B RS B R A N B BRIk L R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ER R

As at 31 March

2019
A2019F
3H31H
HK$’000
T 0
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries &M N A —
CURRENT ASSET REEE
Prepayment A FRIH 58
CURRENT LIABILITY RBEE
Due to related companies JREASH I 78 A ) 5kE (69)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFEEE (11
Net liabilities J=RREik] 1)
EQUITY R
Issued capital OB AT IR A 24 —*
Reserves fiti fh 11
Total equity HARE 4 am
i The amount is less than HK$1,000. o 4 EE /D 11,0009 TG ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR Y RE

31 March 2019
201943H31H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

34. QT B AR T a0

AL T A AT

Accumulated losses Total

Rt BR @t

HK$’000 HKS$’000

T T THIT

At 29 October 2018 R2018F10829H — —
Loss for the year N 1 (11) (11
At 31 March 2019 M201953A31AR (€80} 11)

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 June 2019.
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Four-Year Financial Summary

WES P2

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling 7= £E [H] jjA %8 2< DU f BA B4 75 /0 245 DA &
interests of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from & & ~ A f& M JE ¥ % HE 25 HE 22 (45 8% A 48
the Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set  fi¥ 22 F2 & © T1) %5 48 25 % B %5 ¥ 55 ) ik 51 4n
out below. The summary does not form part of the audited financial T o 7S M 22 R Ji i 48 25 4% BA %5 # 3% o

statements.

RESULTS ¥EiE
Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016
20195 20184 20174F 20164F
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T 0 T 0 T 0
REVENUE Y 5 475,522 313,876 263,823 171,091
Cost of sales £ B i As (247,330) (156,910) (137,991) (91,398)
Gross profit Ecy il 228,192 156,966 125,832 79,693
Other income and gains, net A it A Jz i 25 1 48 5,496 17,541 5,429 5,114
Selling and distribution $H By 8 BH 32
expenses (47,956) (43,959) (34,669) (21,128)
General and administrative — & K A7 B BH S
expenses (62,575) (24,869) (17,071) (12,252)
Other expenses, net HAth B % (VF4H) (4,898) 133 (16,828) (6,777)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R %54 A % A 118,259 105,812 62,693 44,650
Income tax expense BT 15 B B 2 (12,676) (11,977) 9,116) (9,306)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRHEA 105,583 93,835 53,577 35,344
Attributable to: DI £ TEREAL -
Owner of the parent LEY/NIEIE Z =N 105,579 93,899 53,592 35,354
Non-controlling interests I I HE 2 4 (64) (15) (10)
105,583 93,835 53,577 35,344
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Four-Year Financial Summary

PO B A A
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BENRREDR
As at 31 March
MA3H31H
2019 2018 2017 2016
20195 20184F 20174F 20164F
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T 0 T 0 T oo
Non-current assets IE I B G 48,783 18,979 10,622 12,753
Current assets Wi A 434,343 407,074 338,201 240,812
Total assets B A 483,126 426,053 348,823 253,565
Current liabilities I B=Y (213,408) (228,349) (193,581) (147,249)
Total assets less current & AR O B B E

liabilities 269,718 197,704 155,242 106,316

Non-current liabilities B A E (951) = — —
Net assets BEEZFE 268,767 197,704 155,242 106,316

Equity attributable to owner £} /A A A A

of the parent JRE Ak A 4 268,767 197,793 155,267 106,326
Non-controlling interests IE 12 A 4 — (89) (25) (10)
Total equity B 268,767 197,704 155,242 106,316
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In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

20 B ) = T AH 48 = A2 4 R

“Audit Committee”

[HFZAET]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EH

“Brand Licensing Business”

[ it R 452 e 6 75
“BVI”
[ 35 & i 4 T B

“Capitalisation Issue”
[EAAL AT

“CG Code”

EE RN

“close associate”

B30 PN

“Companies Law” or “Cayman
Companies Law”

[ 28\ el B 2 o Al ik

Definitions

Bx

A A BROCER S A PR > R Sl
REALTHE -

the articles of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April 2019,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ANF W ALAE AN > R20194F4 H 12 H A8 - BARBRT - W7
AL

the audit committee of our Board

EHEEMELZAT

the board of directors of our Company

ANFERE

business of licensing of brands by (i) sub-licensing various rights to use the brands
granted by brand licensors and (ii) acting as the agent for the brand licensors to,
among others, identify potential licensees for these brand licensors

LL(l)ﬁi‘x%Eﬁunﬁ?ﬁxﬂ‘éﬁ&?ﬂﬁglﬁ ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ%&(n)ﬁ’ﬁﬁuuﬁf’?&%ﬁ%
FRBE 5 5% 55 it PR HE 7 (L rh B 65 ) W) (0 V8 AE WO IRME T 4 AT B0 W AR E S5

the British Virgin Islands
T Ji i LB

the issue of 1,493,999,999 Shares to be made upon capitalisation of an amount of
HK$14,939,999.99 standing to the credit of the share premium account of our Company
31 74 % R GE 0 Y A B 2 3 R 49114,939,999.99 5 T 48 7T AR IRF 8% 17 1,493,999,999
& B A5y

Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

b T B BRS £ 14 T S A 3R R ST R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA By 5 B BT i 3R

the Companies Laws, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to

time
B2 BEE N AIVES22E (196 1 4R 0 = » BE&EES MIERT) » BAKREE ~ fi
g% DL H At 7 28 o

201968 BEEEERAT 157 -



Definitions

“Companies Ordinance”

ARSECR TN

9 <

“Company”, “our Company”,

“we” or “us”

[ 2> @ el #eAm

“connected transaction(s)”

[ R 52 5

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ e g

“Director(s)” or “our Director(s)”

[# % |
“Frost & Sullivan”
[ 3 27 B e 10 1 3

“Frost & Sullivan Report”

[0 27 34 45 U0 1 SO

“Global Offering”

[ 2 BkEs s |

“Group”, “our Group”,
“We” Or ‘Cus’7

[ A4 B e T )

“HK$”, “HKD” or
“Hong Kong dollars”
[T |

- 158 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

A 15 B A 622 % 2 w0 KEAS R AE HT U 7T

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 29 October 2018 and references to “we”,
“us” or “our” refer to our Group or, where the context requires, our Company
RAKEERDE - —[AR20184F 10 H 29 H it B 8 BF 5 5 M s o7 9 58 3 e A
BRZSw] o [ 3™ B FAM B 1B $2 At 5 A< 4R F BA 28 W] (BT S0 T 48

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

HA E iy R B T A i 2

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and in the context of our
Company, means Ms. Lovinia Chiu and RLA
BA EW BRI T MeE > A2 /BRI S > 958 /Dt MRLA

the director(s) of our Company

A F H

Frost & Sullivan International Limited, an independent consulting firm that
provides market research and analysis

ofs A 7 R U0 I SO R A BR 2 ®) o — [ 43 i 85 8 T B 2 A ) 8 S R R % )

a market research report commissioned by us and prepared by Frost & Sullivan

FeAM 2= 1 36 25 307 Rk b ) SCHR S T 35 WF 5 i

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
s A B R K B R

our Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time or, where the context
otherwise requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were
subsidiaries of our Company at the relevant time

Ay w) B R A B B (DB Y o ] o AN S FR 0 A AR o AR 2 m A R
bRl A NI DR 3 e/ i Il 3 N i R U D N Sl R R 1R /A N /A
1) 5% 25 Bt &g 23 )

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ik E BT

2019 Annual Report



“HKFRS”
[ v S 5 o 1 A1

“Hong Kong”
[ it |

“Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar”

[ s B 2t 56 0 i

“IPY”
[ H &

“Listing”

[

“Listing Date”

[ v H

“Listing Rules”

[ bR A
“Macau”

[ )

“MAIL”

[ 3R 8y & (B[ )

“MAIL Acquisition”

[ R ) 35 (1 P8 ) Wi 4%

Definitions

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
A i 5 o e

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o B A R AT B

Tricor Investor Services Limited, our branch share registrar and transfer agent in
Hong Kong
AR IR A PR F] > A F) Y 7 U I P S R

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

H A2 B ¥ H

the listing of the shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
I A3 7% W A8 P M

the date on Tuesday, 21 May 2019, on which the Shares were first listed and from
which dealings in the Shares were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

201945 H21 H (B8 =) » BRIy & v b o olf 8 of R 6 52 BT £ AR Bl 4R ' &
ZH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

A WIS 2 oy P A BR S R RE R T BRI > KR IR A8 AT el T2

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o [ L F R AT B [

Medialink Animation International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
on 11 August 2000 with limited liability
o w i (BB A MRA A - — AR 20004E8 H 11 H & & s &1 il 37 19 A R

N

acquisition of the remaining 50% shareholding interest in MAIL by Ms. Lovinia
Chiu, completion of which took place on 27 August 2018

/0N 38 L o S R R B (B R B8R N S0% I HE > A B W R 2018 4F8 1 27 H
-

56 i

2019468 BHEEsRAT 159




Definitions

“Main Board”

[ Ak

“Media Content Distribution

Business”
[ B8 N 75 35 4T T
“MEL”
[ 35 F e 4 |

“Memorandum” or
“Memorandum of Association”

[ A AN J BT AH 4 = A Al

“MFE”

[ MFE |

“Ms. Barbara Chiu”
[ /NS 2

“Ms. Lovinia Chiu”

[ /e 2+ |

“Ms. Noletta Chiu”

[/ R %+ )

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange

PR W 5 P 96 1Y A O 5K 5 B (O R A% I RE T ) o 7 98 52 A T 2 FTGEMES 1
UL T BLGEM — [R] £ Mk 52 By /8 7

business of distribution of media content by sub-licensing various rights to exploit
the media content granted by the media content licensors and co-investment in the
production of media content

75 18 P 5 5 TR RGUREE LA B B A B O 7 52 ME D7 BT A M ) I R 7 DA R SR R
SUAE A N A 0 R AR AT R

Medialink Entertainment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 13
October 2000 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
TR YEA PR A] > — W] 20004F 10 7 13 H 16 7 W8 5 M S A BR A ) -
AN T A I A

the memorandum of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April
2019, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN A A AR AR KA o 20194 H 12 H A RAF IR > BAREIERT - MR
s DL H A 7 A ok

Medialink (Far East) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 11 July
2001 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
Medialink (Far East) Limited - — [H] 200147 7 11 H 7€ 7 W5 5% i 5057 19 4 BR 2
IR B /N Re o < V7 /A

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara, a member of our senior management and the sister of
Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu
B /NS A Ao e A B B DA R /N A L R /N L e R i

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the chairman of our Board, an executive Director and
chief executive officer of our Company, our Controlling Shareholder, and the sister
of Ms. Noletta Chiu and Ms. Barbara Chiu

MNHEL L AN A ES G EN - PUIT HE F AT B R SR R D R
/N B A A K N ¥ e ) o ik

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, our executive Director and the sister of Ms. Barbara
Chiu and Ms. Lovinia Chiu
/N Rl et > FRAM B9 AT IE T R /N B L ROl /e e Y g ok
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“myTV SUPER”
'myTV SUPER

“Nomination Committee”

(EXZ AT

“PRC” or “China” or
“Mainland China”

[ I ) sl A A

“Principal Share Registrar”

[ B 13 5 8 e 48K

“Prospectus”

[ 47 M 7 A

1l

“Remuneration Committee’

[#r 2% B & )

“Reorganisation”

[ 4 ]

“RLA”

[RLA

“RMB”
PN

“SFO”
[ 5 b ) B e

“SGD”
(3% 3 e )

Definitions

a media platform operated by TVB Group
—{E B TVBAE M 1 BT B

the nomination committee of our Board

EHERALZAT

The People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires, references
in this report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

o N\ R SL A B o A R R T E 0 RBR U S R TR > AR
Pt iy [ b B N 45 A il - R R B

Walkers Corporate Limited
Walkers Corporate Limited

prospectus of the Company dated 30 April 2019
Ay w) H O £520194E4 7130 H B9 47 i & AR

the remuneration committee of our Board

EHOHMEEE

the reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing

A S5 ) 1 AR b AT ) AL

RLA Company Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 23 October 2018, which is one of our Controlling Shareholders and wholly
owned by Ms. Lovinia Chiu

RLA Company Limited - — [ #220184F 10 7 23 H £ 9% 8 i & B 15 55 M S i A
RO A] > b BAM B B R 2 — > Sl /e i e A

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Hh R i E BN R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

A K 01 5 571 B RS 2 MO B R o KR IR B BT B T

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore

TN ek 2 B OB 3 ot
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Definitions

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Shares

[ GRS EEWN

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

R I A 58 5 BT A PR A

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[tk J& 2~ w SN UDY e R TE

“Substantial Shareholder” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[ 2R HA E i BB B 19 T 56

“US dollars” or “US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
[%7c ) FB A E B3R T

LTI LTI

In this report, the terms “associate”, “close associate”, “connected A AR E R > Ik KD A rds > & 8l

person”, “connected transaction”, “controlling shareholder”, “core  [WFE A |~ [BHEE A | - [ A L] -

connected person” and “subsidiary(ies)” shall have the meanings given [R5 | ~ [#E R ] ~ [0 B H A

to such terms in the Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires. =+ | R T a2\ RE BAg b T R B B I
W o
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SR

This glossary contains explanations of certain terms used in this report. 3 flif 7 5% & A A< ¥ & Br 25 T 5 52 19 i
These terms and their meanings may or may not correspond to standard — F% o 3% 25 & 5% M H I 25 0% 06 B 3% 25 & 4%

industry meaning or usage of these terms.

“brand(s)”

[ b 4
“brand licensor(s)”
[ il WA 7 )

“character brand(s)”

[ T 5 b

“fashion brand(s)”

[IRF i ity
“inflight distribution rights”
[ 22 34T hUHE |

«p”
[k i )

“IPTV rights”

[ A8 L 2 A e
“media content”

[ N2

“media content licensor(s)”
[ A 2 P T

“merchandising rights”

[P b 3 HE

“minimum guarantee”

[ 5 A PR i 4z

9 R HE S B E 28 T L — B -

comprising trademarks, characters, labels, names, logos, designs, or the names and/
or likeness thereof, which may be further categorised into character brands, fashion
brands, lifestyle brands and other brands

AR - AE - R A8 B RPN B T
I AT G b~ TR R~ AR T T R H A o R

licensor(s) of brand(s)

i W M 7

brand(s) involving characters from animation or comics

W K B o B8 ARG

brand(s) involving fashion labels or fashion names

W T IR 4 il W BCIRY v 44 9 19 i R

the rights to exhibit the media content to aircraft passengers during a flight via aircraft
broadcasting channels

TP TR AT B3 8 3 A W S 9 R 1) A B R 7 R S IR T A ) R A

intellectual property

R AR

the rights to distribute streaming media content directly to viewers over the internet
via private, dedicated network

75 it FL N 2T A A5 L 1) L g AR B B AT A U B R A ) M

media content including animation series, drama series, animated feature films,
live-action feature films and other video content

HEREANABRFESHER  EUE BERBHEY  BEARREZ L H A
NS

licensor(s) of media content

R A A TS

the rights to produce, manufacture, sell and otherwise distribute, advertise and
promote any tangible items, goods and/or products being or using the brands,
characters, designs or the names and/or likeness thereof

G A MR~ A RO B R AR R B R DA T
o8~ B R HE AT DA TR~ R S B i R RE R

an advance payment made by a licensee to a licensor to obtain the licensing rights,
which will be recognised as licensed assets; it is usually non-refundable but
recoupable or shall be set-off against the royalty payable

WA HE Ty 1) 42 HE O SOOI B TRAS R > DASEAS 52 HERE M) > 52 HEE R )R il R 4%
REVTE 5 W A PR R > M T AR > BT R KB R A Y R
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Glossary of Technical Terms

iR

“OTT”
[OTTJ

“promotion rights”

[ fie 34 |

“royalty rate(s)”

[ i it 2

“TV
[FEH

“VOD rights”

[ 50 S 86 F6 HE

over-the-top channels that distribute streaming media content directly to viewers
over the internet via open network, including subscription-based video on demand
services

75 1 B i XA A R o) I A B B AT R IR B 0 4 i over-the-top B 4
LA A R TR A A5 U 6 AR 5

the rights to use brands, characters, designs or the names to advertise and
promote the goods, services, or general business operation of a licensee, including
advertisements prepared for all print and audio-visual media uses (including radio,
television and film), packaging materials, point-of-sale displays, premium items and
other promotional items

R~ A BT R R RER) > DUE B B T I R A IRES
R SR RS o AR L T A B R B R T A (R A R R - B
BB ) W RAE R B - GLAEMRE ~ BB B RN A A B E A2 B A

payment made by one party, the licensee/sub-licensee, to another party, the licensor/
master licensee, for the use of media content/brands of the licensor/master licensee
expressed as a percentage of the revenue obtained using the media content/brands or as
a fixed value, depending on the agreements between the parties

— 05 (WARHE Ty /P WA AE Ty ) W AR ME 07 MR RE T i R 2R
S — 5 (B RE T MR ) A R S > BT Z R R S
i FH AR B IR 25 R AT O M AR 1 — 8 4 b B — R R R

television
B

video-on-demand rights, i.e. the rights to exhibit the media content, where the timing of
the delivery/exhibition of the media content is not pre-determined, but rather is at the
viewer’s discretion, and in connection with a fee

A5 SRR AR R R L P A A HE A o op B R A S AR R IR R 2
THCHEERY > TR LR B AT IR E A 2H SN 2 A
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